Building No. 10, 12th Floor, Tower-C

BSR & Co. LLP DLF Cyber City, Phase - I

Gurugram - 122 002, India
Chartered Accountants Tel: +61 124 719 1000

Fax: +@1 124 235 8613

To the Members of Bargue Hotels Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Bargue Hotels Private Limited (the *Company”) which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the statement of profit and loss (including other
comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid financiaf statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ("Act’) in the
ranner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its foss and other
comprehensive loss, changes in equity and its cash flows for the year ended on that date.

| Basis for Oﬁinir.m_'_

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on  Auditing (SAs) specified under
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibitities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Campany in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate te provide a basis for our apinion on the financial statements.

 Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of mast significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our apinion thereon, and we do not provide a
saparate opinion on these matters,

See Note 30 to the financial statements

The key audit matter  How the matter was addressed i our audit |

The Company is principally engaged in the Our audit procedures included:

busi f i hotefs. ! : L . ,
usiness of owning hotels, lts revenue i« Tested the design. implementation and operating

comprises hote! revenue (including room )
P ( 9 effectiveness of the key controls of the revenue
- revenue, food and beverage revenue and e .
recognition process.

revenue from recreation and other services) -
and space rental revenue, i« Tested the Company's revenue recognition
i accounting policies are consistent with the

" The accounting policies for different revenue
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BSR&Co. LLP

Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

- gtreams are set out in Note 2.11 to the financiat I

statements.

Revenue is a key performance indicator ofthe
Company and there is risk of overstatementof

; revenue due to fraud resulting from pressure |
: to achieve targets and earnings expectations.

| Considering the above, wa have identified | «

revenue recognition as a key audit matter.

Barque Hotels Private Limited

applicable accounting standards.
Using statistical sampling basis, lested the .
revenue transactions recorded during the year |
(including year-end cut off testing) with the !
underiying documents such as invoices, bank :
collections, and other relevant documents, as

applicable. |

Tested the journai entries relating to revenue ;
recognised during the year based on specified
risk-based criteria, to identify unusual or irregular
items. '

Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures relating to
the revenue recognition made in the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable :
accounting standards. i

. See Note 51 to the financial statements

The key audit matier

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying value of |

_ property, plant and equipment, capital work in @

. progress,

night of use assets and other
intangible assets amounts to INR 3,082.86

* million {net of accumulated impairment loss of
 INR 253 20 miliion). .

in accordance with the requirements of Ind AS

" 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’, the Company |
. periodically assesses whether there is any |

indication that such property, plant and ' |
equipment, capital work in progress. right of |

- use assets and other intangible assets at cash .

generating unit (CGU) level may require :
impairment charge or reversal. If any such |
indication exists, the Company estimates the |
recoverable amount of these assets. ;

' To assess the recoverability of the CGU, |

management is reguired to make significant |
estimates and assumptions reiated to forecast

. of future revenue, cperating margins, exit |
- multiple and selection of the discount rates. :

" CGU.

The Company uses the discounted cash flow
approach to determine the value in use of the |

2

y B

2

© How the matter was addressed in our audii

Cur audit procedures included:

Tested the design, implementation, and :
operating effectiveness of key controls over the |
impairmant assessmeant process.

Assessed the indicators of impairment {including .
impairment reversal) in assets at CGU level .
based on consideration of external and internal -
factors affecting the value and performance of
CGU.

Obtained  management  assessment  of .
recoverable amount of CGL where indicator of

impairment (including impairment reversal) is
dentified and performed the fallowing:

a. Obtained an understanding of the Company’s
process for projecting the future cash flows for
determining the recoverable amount of CGUs.

b Evaluated the key market related
assumptions such as discount rate and exit
multiple with assistance of our valuation
specialist. We also performed sensitivity -
analysis over these assumptions. :

Assessed the reliability of cash flow forecasts
through a retrospective review of actual ;
performance in comparison to budgets, !
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Barque Hotels Private Limited

d. Evaluated the reasonableness of the ,
assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts |

Consequent to such impairment assessment, . el :
which includes occupancy rate, average room

‘ the Company has recorded an impairment 8 : ;
i rate and operating margins. To consider

- reversal of INR 43.93 million against such oo S
| assets in the current vear ; forecasting risk we also performed sensitivity |
year. | analysis over these assumptions.

In view of the significance of these assets and +  Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures
: involvement of judgements and estimates, we made in the financials statements.
: have considered the impairment assessment 5
© of property. plant and equipment, capital work -
- i progress, right of use assets and other :
i intangible assets as a key audit matter. :'

,__'_I_léijagemﬁt's _ahc_l Board of D.iren_:_iols Responsibifities for the -Finan.éial'ist_as_eman&' 3 ) _

The Campany's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section
134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs, profit/ foss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also
includas maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
iregularities, selection and application of appropriate accounting policies: making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequale
internai financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give
a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud orerror.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management and Board of Directors are responsible for
assessing the Company's ability to continue as & going concern. disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either
intends to liguidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to da so.

The Board of Directors is also respensible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

' Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 'ananci#l-sﬁtpméhts '

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstaterments can arise from fraud or error and are considered matertal if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs. we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also;

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and apprepriate to provide a basis for our apinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than far one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal cantrol relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequale interna! financial controls with
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BSR&Co. LLP

independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
Barque Hotels Private Limited

reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management and Board of Directors.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern
basis of accounting in preparation of financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concem. If we conclude that 2 material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclesures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence cbtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, inciuding the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters. the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings. including any significant deficiencies in internal contro
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to cutweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requiremants

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 {"the Order") issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of Section 143({11) of the Act, we give in the "Annexure A" a statement
on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, o the extent applicable.

2 A. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that,

a We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b In our opinion. proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books, except for the following:

{# the back-up of an accounting software used for maintaining payroil records which forms part of
the 'books of account and cther relevant books and papers in electronic mede' has not been kept
on servers physically located in India; and

(i) for the matters stated in the paragraph 2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014,

¢ The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss {inciuding other comprehensive income), the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account,

d  In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the ind AS specified under Section
133 of the Act.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
Bargue Hotels Private Limited

On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 17 April 2024 taken
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disgualified as on 31 March 2024
from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

The gualifications relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith
are as stated in the paragraph 2A(b} above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) of the Act and
paragraph 2B({f) below on reporting under Rule 11{g} of the Companies {Audit and Auditors)
Rules, 2014.

With respect to the adeguacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such contrals, refer to our separate
Report in "Annexure B”.

B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with Rule 11 of
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and
according to the explanations given to us:

a.

The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2024 on its financiat
position in its financial statements - Refer Note 39 to the financial statements.

The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there
were any material foreseeable losses.

There were no amounts which were required to be fransferred to the investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

d {i) The management has represented that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed

{n

(i)

0]

in thc Note 50(v) to the financial statamiznts, no furda have been advanced o loaned vl nvesled
{either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the
Company to or in any other person(s) or entity{ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries™),
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall
directly or indirectly fend or invest in other persons or enlities identified in any manner whatscever
by or on behalf of the Company {“Ultimate Beneficiaries™ or provide any guarantee, security or
the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

The management has represented that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in
the Note 50(vi) to the financial statements, no funds have been received by the Company from
any person(s) or entity{ies), inciuding foreign entities {"Funding Parties”}, with the understanding,
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company shall directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsocever by or on behalf of the
Funding Parties ("Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantes. security or the like on behalf
of the Uitimate Beneficiaries.

Based on the audit procedures performed that have been considerad reasonable and appropriate
in the circumstances. nothing has come to our notice that has cauvsed us to believe that the
representations under sub-clause (i} and (i) of Rule 11{e}. as provided under (i} and (i) above,
contain any material mrsstaternent.

The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividend during the year.

Based on our examination which included test checks, except for the instances mentioned below.
the Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its books of account which have a
feature of recording audit trail {edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year
for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective softwares

The feature of recording audit trail {edit log) facility was not enabled at the database level to log
any direct data changes for the accounting softwares used for maintaining the books of account
relating to general ledger, revenue and procure to pay process at the hotel level,

The feature of recording audit trait {edit log} facility was not enablad for the accounting software
used for maintaining the books of account relating to general ledger.
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independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
Barque Hotels Private Limited

{ In the absence of sufficient and appropriate reporting on compliance with the audit trail
reguirements in an independent auditor's repart of a service organisation available for part of the
year and in the absence of the independent auditor's report of a service organisation for the
balance period, for accounting software used for maintaining the books of account relating to
payreoll process at the hotel level, which is aperated by a third-party software service provider, we
are unable to comment whether audit trail feature for the said software was enabled and operated
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the said software.

Further, for the pericds where audit trail {edit log) facility was enabled and operated for the respective
accounting softwares, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail feature being tampered
with except that in case of one of the accounting software used for maintaining general ledger at the
hotel level. due to limitations in the system configuration, we are unable to comment whether there
were any instances of the audit trail feature being tampered with.

C. With respect to the mattsr to be included in the Auditor's Report under Section 187(16) of the Act:

in our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not
paid any remuneration to its directors during the year. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not
prescribed other details under Section 197(18) of the Act which are required to be commented upon
by us.

ForBSR&Co.LLP

Chartered Accountanis
Firm's Registration No.: 101248W/W-100022

P

E;W;{_:,_,

Shweta Kumar

Partner

Place: Gurugram Membership No.: 509822
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAIUDIN:24509822BKHREY 7193

Page 6 of 15




BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

{Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatoty
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

(i} (2} {A} The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative
details and situation of Property, Piant and Eguipment.

{(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(i) (b)  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the recerds of the Company, the Company has a regular programme of physical verification
of its Property, Plant and Equipment by which all property, plant and equipment are verified once
in every three years. In accordance with this programme, all property. plant and equipment were
physically verified during the previous year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification
is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material
discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

{c) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable properties {other than immovabie
properties where the Company is the lessee and the fease agreements are duly executed in
favour of the lessee) disclosed in the financial statements are helid in the name of the Company.
However, original title deeds are under lien with lender. Therefore, we could not verify those title
deeds and have not received independent confirmation from lender for the same.

{d} According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examinaticn
of the records of the Company, the Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment
{inciuding Right of Use assets) or intangible assets or both during the year.

&) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there are no proceedings initiated or pending against the
Company for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property
Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.

(i} {a) The inventory has been physically verified by the management during the year In our opinion,
the frequency of such verification is reasonable and procedures and coverage as followed by
management were appropriate. No discrepancies were noticed on verification between the
physical stocks and the boek records that were more than 10% in the aggregate of each class
of inventory.

{b}  According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in
excess of five crore rupees, in aggregate, frem bank on the basis of security of current assets.
As informed to us and as per the terms of loan agreement of such limits. thers is no requirement
to submit guarterly returns or statements with such bank,

{iii) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not made any investments, or provided
guarantee or security or advances in the nature of loans to companies, firms, limited liakility
partnership or any other parties during the year. The Company has granted loans to company
during the year. in respect of which the requisite information is as below. The Company has not
granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to firms. limited liability partnership or any other
parties during the year.

{a) Based on the audit procedures carried on by us and as per the information and expianations

iy
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Continued)

{©)

©

@

{f

given to us the Company has provided loans to subsidiary as below:

! Particutars Loans {INR million)

Aggregate amount during the year
Subsidiary* 27 50

Bzlance outstanding as at balance sheet date
Subsidiary** 295.18

*As per the Companies Act, 2013
* Disclosed as deemed investment in the balance sheet.

According to the infermation and explanations given to us and based on the audit procedures
conducted by us, in our opinien, the terms and conditions of the grant of loans provided during
the year are, prima facie. not prejudicial to the interest of the Company. Interest free loans
granted are only to protect its investment in subsidiary company and accordingly, are not
prejudicial to the interest of the Company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of qur examination
of the records of the Company, in the case of loans given, in our opinion the repayment of
principal is not stipulated for the loan {as on 31 March 2024) of INR 295.18 million given to
Paulmech Hospitality Private Limited (subsidiary of the Company) which is repayable at the
option of the Paulmech Hospitality Private Limited. Accordingly, we are unable to comment on
the regularity of repayment of principal.

According to the information and expianations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no overdue amaunt for more than ninety days in respect
of ivans given. Further, the Company has not given any advances in the nature of loans fo any
party during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, there is no loan granted falling due during the year, which has
been renewed or extended or fresh ioans granted to settle the overdues of existing loans given
to same parties.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examiration
of the records of the Company, in our opinion the Company has not granted any loans or
advances in the nature of loans either repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or
period of repayment except for the following loans to its refated party as defined in Clause (75)
of Section 2 of the Companies Act. 2013 (“the Act™):

Particulars Related Party
{INR in million)
Aggregate of loans
- Repayable on demand {(A) Nil
-Agreement does not specify any terms or period of 27.50
Repayment (B) .
Total (A+B) 27.50
Percentage of loan to total loans 9.32%
Page § of 15
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’'s Report on the Financial Statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
{Continued)

()

()

(v

With effect from 01 October 2023, basis contractual arrangement with Paulmech Hospitality Private
Limited, the Company has converted interest bearing loan of INR 267 68 million given to subsidiary
company into interest free [oan which is repayable at the option of subsidiary company.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company. the Company has not provided any guarantee or security as
specified under Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act”). In respect of loans granted
by the Company, the provisions of Section 185 of the Act have been complied with. The
Company has complied with Section 186(1) of the Act. According 1o the information and
explanations given to us, the provisions of Section 186 (except for sub-section (1) of the Section
186) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company since the Company is
engaged in the business of providing infrastructural facifities.

The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from
the public. Accordingly, clause 3{v} of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and expianations given to us, the Central Government has not
prescribed the maintenance of cost records under Section 148(1) of the Act for the services
rendered by the Company. Accordingly, clause 3(vi) of the Order is notapplicable.

i) (@) The Company does not have liability in respect of Service tax. Duly of excise. Sales tax and

Value Added Tax during the year since effective 1 July 2017, these statutory dues has been
subsumed into GST.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, in our opinion amounts deducted / accrued in the books of
account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including Goods and Services Tax {{GST'}
Provident Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Cess or cther statutory dues have
generally been regufarly depaosited with the appropriate autharities, though there have been
slight delays in a few cases of income tax, employees state insurance, and professional tax.

As explained to us, the Company did not have any dues on account of Duty of Customs.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of cur examination
of the records of the Company, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of Goods and
Services Tax, Provident Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Cess or other statutory
dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2024 for a pericd of more than six months from the date
they became payable, except as mentioned below:

Name of the Nature of the | Amount Period to Pue date Date of
statute dues {INR which the payment
million) amount
relates
The Employees' | Provident 0.18 | March 2019 | 15 April : Not paid yet
Provident Fund 2019 i '
Funds and | (Additional
Misceltaneous liability due to
Provisions Act, Supreme
1862 Court
Judgement)
Central Goods { Interest fiability 0.56 | April 202110 | # Not paid yet
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
{Continued)

Name of the Nature of the | Amount Perigd to Due date Date of
statute dues {INR which the payment
million) amount
refates
and  Services | on Goods and March 2022
Tax Act, 2017 | Service Tax
and State
Goods and
Services  Tax
Act, 2017

# These amaunts have fallen due at various points of time during the year ended 31 March
2022,

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, statutory dues relating to Goods and Services Tax, Provident
Fund, Employees State Insurance, Income-Tax, Cess or other statutory dues which have not
been deposited on account of any dispute are as follows:

{b}

|
" Name of the Nature of the Amount {INR Period to Forum where
statute dues million} which the dispute is
amount relates pending
{Financial
Year)
Income Tax Act, | Penalty wis 1.01 ° 2016-17 Commissioner
19671 271C of Income Tax
{Appeals)
‘Income Tax Act, | Addition to the 296.97* | 2016-17 Commissioner
1961 taxable income of Income Tax
{Appeals)

*Amount represents additions to taxable income

Accerding to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of cur examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions,
previously unrecorded as income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the
income Tax Act, 1961 as income during the year.

{wiil}

{ix) ta) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and
borrowing or in the payment of interest thereen to any lender. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company also has interest free loan amounting to INR 3,200.33 million from SAMHI Hotels
Limited ("Parent Company™ repayable at the option of the Company and accordingly classified
as "other equity”. As this loan is repayable at the option of the Company, there has bgen no
default in repayment thereof.

According to the information and expfanations given to us and on the basfs of cur examination

of the records of the Company, the Company has not been declared a wilful defaulter by any
bank or financial institution or government or government authority.

(&)

According to the information and explanations given to us by the management, the Company’
Page 10 of 15
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

{Continued)

has not obtained any term loan during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not
applicable.

{d According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures performed by us,
and on an overali examination of the balance sheet of the Company, we report that the Company
has used funds raised on short-term basis aggregating to INR 482.09 million for long-term
purposes.

{&) According to the information and explanations given to us and on an overall examination of the
financial statements of the Company, we report that the Company has not taken any funds from
any entity or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiary as defined under
the Act.

{f} According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by us, we
report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in
its subsidiary (as defined under the Act).

{x} (a) The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
{including debt instruments). Accordingly, clause 3{x){a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b}  According to the information and explanations giver to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company. the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or fully or partly convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly. clause
3(x}(b} of the Order is not applicable.

{xi} {a) Based on examination of the books and records of the Company and according to the
information and explanations given to us. no fraud by the Company or on the Company has
been noticed or reported during the course of the audit.

{9)] According to the information and explanations given to us, no report under sub-section (12) of
Sectlion 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule
13 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government.

{ch As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

{xif) According to the information and explanations given to us, the Campany is not a Nidhi Company.
Accordingly, clause 3({xii} of the Order is not applicable.

{xdil) The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of a public limited company and accordingly the
requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 177 of the Act are not applicable to the
Company. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on
the basis of our examination of the records of the Company. transactions with the related parties
are in compliance with Section 188 of the Act where applicable and details regarding such
transactions have heen disclosed in the financial statements as required by applicabie
accounting standards.

{(xiv) (a) Based on information and explanations provided to us and our audit procedures, in our opinion,
the Company has an mternal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its

husiness.

(b} The internal audit of the Campany for the period under audit is currently under progress. Hence,
the internal audit reports could not be considered by us.

(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected to its directors
and hence, provisions of Section 192 of the Act are not applicable to the Company.

{(xvi) {a} The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934 Accordingly, clause 3(xvi){a} of the Order is not applicable.
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure A to the Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
{Continued)}

o
{c)

(d)

(evi
(i

{ix)

()

The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934, Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicabie.

The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by
the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3({xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company is not part of any group (as per the pravisions of the Core Investment Companies
(Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016 as amended). Accordingly. the requirements of clause
Jixvi}d} are not applicable, i

The Company has not incurred any cash losses in the current financial year; however, cash loss
of INR 79094 million was incurred in the previous year.

There has been ne resignation of the statutory auditors dunng the year. Accordingly. clause
3{xvirt) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios,
ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities,
our knowledge of the Board of Directors and managemant plans and based on our examination
of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes
us to befieve that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that the
Company is not capable of meeling its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and
when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state
that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our

reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any

guarantze nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the
balance sheet date, wilt get discharged by the Company as and when they falidue.

The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of Section 135 are not appiicable to the
Company. Accordingly, clauses 3(xx}(a} and 3(xx})(b) of the Order are not applicable.

ForBS R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’'s Registration No.:101248W/yW-100022

W
B ’U..- P
* Shweta Kumar

Partner

Place' Gurugram Membership No.: 509822
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAI UDIN:24509822BKHREY7 193

Page 12 of 15




BSR &Co. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the financial statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

Report on the internal financial controls with reference to the aforesaid financial
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

{Referred to in paragraph 2{A)(g) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements’ section of our report of even date)

GQualified Opinion

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of Barque Hotels
Private Limited {"the Company’) as of 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the financial
statements of the Company far the year ended on that date.

in our opinion, the Company has maintained, in all material respects, adeguate internal financial controls
with reference to financial staterments as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of (nternal Financial Controls Over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note') and
except for the possible effects of the material weakness described in "Basis for Qualified Opinion” section
of our report below, on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company’s internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements were operating effectively as of 31 March2024,

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported below in determining the nature,
timing, and extent of audit tests applied i our audit of 31 March 2024 financial stalements of the Company,
and the material weakness does not affect our opinion on the financial statements of theCompany.

' Basis for Qualified Opinion

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit, the following materiai
weakness has been identified in the operating effectiveness of the Company's internal controls with
reference to financial statements as at 31 March 2024;

The Company's internai financial controls with reference to financial statements in respect of General
Infermation  Technology Controls {GITCs) and auternated Information Technology (IT) Application
Controlfs over the Company's Oasis application software were not operating effectively as at 31 March
2024, This could potentially result in understatement/ overstatement of revenue from operations in the
Company's financial statements.

A 'material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control with
reference to financial statements, such that thers is reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
the company’s annual or interim financial statements wiil not be prevented or detected on a limely basis.

] Management's and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities for Internal Financial Controis

The Company’s Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining
internal financial controis based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the
Guidance Note. These responsibilities inciude the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were aperating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficignt conduct of
its business, including adherence to company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with refarence to
financiai statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note
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BSR&Ce. LLP

Annexure B to the Independent Auditor's Report on the financial statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

{Continued)

and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to
an audit of internai financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material

respects.

Our audit involves performing proceduras to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Qur audit of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have abtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our gualified apinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.

Meaning of !!'i_te_rnaf Financiat Controfs with Reference to Financial Statements

A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generaily accepted accounting principles. A
company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those policies and
procedures that {1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reascnable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparatian of financiat staterments in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reascnable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unautherised acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of hi_tema! Firlahciaf_ Controls with Reference to Fir-_ia-ncﬁ[ 'St_atemats-. :

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements,
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls. material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal
financial controls with reference to financial statements to future perieds are subject to the risk that the
internal financial contrals with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of
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BSR&Co. LLP

Annexure B to the independent Auditor's Report on the financial statements
of Barque Hotels Private Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024
{Continued)

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the poficies or procedures may deteriorate.

ForBSR&Co.LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.;101248WAN-100022

o

D M J.,w")
o
Shweta Kumar

Partner
Place: Gurugram Membership No.; 509822
Date: 29 May 2024 ICAIUDIN:24509822BKHREY7193
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Barque IBotels Private Limited

CIN LSS101DL2ZO0SPTCI 75957

Balance $heet as at 31 March 2024

AL cemapients aee i Rupeey mifficns. witfess oo mnse stored)

ASSETS

Non-cerrent assets
Property, plant and equipment
Capital work-m-progress
Rimht of use assets
Ocher meangible assets
Financial assets
tnvestment in subsidiany
Loans
Crcher firancial assets
Orler rax assets
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets

Invertoties

Financiaf assets
Trude receivables
{Cash and cash equivalents
Barx balances other than cash and vash equivalents shove
Other finanzial assats

{hher current assers

Ansars held for sale
Total current assets

VAL ASSETS
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Equuty sharc capital
Other couity

Total equity

Liabilities

Non-current Habilities
Fiancial liabitities
Bomowimas
t.ease lahilines
Provisions
(Mher non current hamihnes
Tutal run- current liabilities

Current liabilities
Financal izmbtes
Burowinigs
Lease Latehbies
Trade payables
- wlal oulslandirg dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises, and
- tota! outstanding dues of ereditors other than rugra enterprises
and small enterprises
Otiwer financial lialitics
Mbwer current hiab:lities
Provisgons
Total current liabilities

Total Habilities

TOTAL FQLITY AND LIABILITIES

The notes from Nole 1 o Nole 52 furm an integral part of 1hese financial statemenss

As per ot report of even date altuched

Far BSR& Co. LLP
U hertered dvouimions
1CAL Finm Reg:stration Yo 101 248W%- 100022

G 4,__12;1

Shwéta Kumar
Havtaer
Mernog ship No | 306822

Plaze Gurugrain
Diate 29 May 2024

P and on behalt of Board of Directors of
Barque Hotels Private Limited

£

ajat Mfehra
Director
DIN 06813081

Place Gierugram
Date: 29 May 2024

Note

[N

.

W -0 Juown

=

12

14
15

Lis

18
19

24
25
6

27
28
23

As at
31 March 2024

Asat
31 March 2023

2,536 47 2.708.03
103,39 1483
32113 324.14

a8l 1158
66,18 71.00
- 25353
[33.50 120.2%
26 56 238
1698 456
3,636.08 3.516.84
277 306
BU8S 5235
48,51 4757
- ¥723
004 0l
7742 7811
209.61 200,34
701060

20%.61 270,34

3,895,69 3,787.18
383 7S 383 75
343 34 [L&1.91)
927.0% 221.84

1,971.37 2,604 16
125 39 143 42

735 537
7095 7719

2176.16 2,830.94

36 96 483 72

4541 47 8¢
650 127
2518 !
5000 2564
316 26,57

5 44 318
4204 734.40
2,918.60 3,568.34
3.845.69 3.757.18

Manish Bhagat
farecton
DIN 0RO92409

Flace: Gurugram
Dater 26 May 2024



Bargue Hotels Private Limited

CIN L3510 DL200BP T 175957

Setatement of Profit and Loss for the yvear ended 31 March 2024
fetf comonnits are in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

Income

Revenuc from operations
Other tncome

Total income

Expenses
Cost pf materials consumed

Emplovee benefits expense
(rther expenses

Earnings before finance costs, depreciztion and amortisation, tax and exceptional items
Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Loss before tax and exceptional items

Exceplional items

Loss before tax

Tax expense

Current tax

Deferred tax

Loss for the year

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified fo profit or loss

- Re-measurement loss on defined benefit obligations

- Income tax relating to wem mentioned above

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the vear

Earnings/{loss) per equity share, {face value of INR 10 ench)

Basic (INR}

Dilured {TNR)

The notes from Note | 1o Note 52 form an integral part of these financial starerments.
As per our report of even date attached
Far BSR& Co, LLP

Chartered Accountanis
ICAI Firm Registration No.: 101243W/W- 100022

Naote

3a
31

33
£l

34

kN

33

38

-

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

e
APy /ey
Shweta Kumar - gajat Mihra
Fartner irecio

Membership No.: 509822

Place: Gurugram
Diate: 29 May 2024

DIN: 06813081

Place Gurugram
Bare: 25 May 2024

1,583.65 1.420.51
19.61 3827
1,603.26 1,458.78
103 51 100.77
224.75 191.96
822 7% 09 78
1,151.44 1,002.51
451,82 456,27
32942 1,186 70
183.75 £74.94
514.87 1.361.66
(63.05) {905.39}
(36.18) .
26.87) (903.39)
(26.37) {905.39)
£0.88) (0.41)
{0.88) {0.41)
(27.75) (%05.80)
{070 (23.5%
{070 (23 59

Far and an behall ol Board of Directors of
Barque Hotels Private Limited

W~

Manish Bhagat
Liirecior
DIN: 08092409

Place; Gurugram
Prare. 29 May 2024




Barque Hotels Private Lintited

CIN USS101DL2Z00ORPTC 175957

Statement of Cash Flows for ¢he year ended 31 March 2024
(AN cmotists are fir Bupees snfliony, unless oiherase simed)

Al

Cash Mows from operating activities

Lass before tax

Adjustments for
Diepreciation and amortisation expense
Provision for bad and doubtful debis
Finance costs
Interest incanie
Amarttzation of income reegived in advance

Net gan on fair valuation of equity component of gonvertible debentures
Reversal of provision For impainnant i value of praperty, plant and equipmeat, nghr

af use asset and intangible assets
Gatn on fair vatuahon of land held For salc
Frovision ! liabilities no longer required written back
LInwindimg of discount on security deposits
Operating cask flows before movement in assels 2nd liabilities
{Inctease} ! decrease in inventortes
(lncreass) in rrade receivables
([ncrease) £ decrease in orher Anances| asscrs
{Tncrease) / decrease in other assets
Inerease / (decrease ) in trade payables
Increase / (decrease} in other Jiabilities
Increase in provisions
[ncrease in other financial liabilities
Cash generated from eperating activities
Income taxes (paid) - nel
Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing acivities

Purchase of property, plant and cquipment and capital work-in progress

Preceeds from sale of property. plast and equipmnent
Loan provided to subsidiacy
Bank deposits matured
Bank deposits made
Entetesl reveived
Met cash generated fromi{used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from noa-current borrowang {net of upfront fees)
Repayment of barrowings during the vear
i Repaymemt) Proveeds of ciomean: hortowings (e
Lease pavimnents
Interest frae loans raceved from holding company
Finance costs paid
Nee cash generated vsed in financing activities

Met inerease/{decrease] in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)
Cash and cash equivalents as the baginning of the year

Cash and eash equivalents at the end of the year

otes tn Statement of Cash Flaws

Compaonenls of Cash anid cash equivalents

Cash on hand

Halances with bunky

- o7 Current accounts
Bank deposits with original maturity of less than 2 months

For the year endeid
31 March 2024

For the vear ended
31 March 2023

(26.87) (905,30}
185.7% 174.56
149 035
392 1.186.70
(249 (10,26}
(5 23) [3.23)
. (11 34
{(3118) .
15.00) .
{238} {263
£7.99) i6.81)
435.22 42035
029 (1.08)
(19,98} 13%.96)
(0.35) 03
{1.30 33.19
76.78 (3509
(3.42) 277
336 469
2.7 16.99
192,54 399.24
(L6.06) {138
476.18 397.66
(77.81} {10.3%)
074 _
{27 50) (680}
236 8% 751 45
i253.63) (7405403
309 642
(95.13) 0.18
. 2717.60
(08,13 (2,850.60)
(3287 36718
49653 (36,9103
733.00 20.00
[319.66) {619.56}
(377.31) (421,69
074 (23.55)
4777 7162
48.51 47,77

As at
31 March 2024

Asat
31 March 2023

1.03 L6063
32167 44 14
14 81 -
48.51 47,77




Barque Hetels Private Limited

CIN US5141DL2Z00SPTC1759587

Siatement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
(I cmonais are i Rupees mifliony, witess otheniise satead)

For the year ended
31 March 2023

For the year ended

i, Mavement in financial liabilities- Boreewings incloding interese accrued
31 March 2024

Opening Balance 3,004 31 229239

Changes from financing cash flaws

Proceeds from non-current borrowings - 2,717.60

Repayment of non-current borrowings (70813} {2,850.00)

[Repayment)Proceeds of current borrowings {net} {32.87) 367.18

Finance cost paid (319.66) {B19.56)

Other non cash changes

Finance cost expense 32571 1,186.70
2.359.36 3,094.31

Closing Batance

The cash flows from operating activilies section of Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared in accordance with the 'Indirect Method' as sef out in the [nd AS 7 “Statement ol Cash Flows”,

Moveinent in lease lizktlities is as fotlows:

iv.
As ar 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
Upening balance 191.63 219.65
Additions 10,75 6.83
Armounts reeognized in St ol Profit and Loss as interest expenst 13.69 22,06
Pavment of lease liabikies (49.63) {3691}
Closing Balance {Refer Noic 21 and 25) £71.40 191,43

The notes feonn Note | o Note 52 form an inteeral part of these Anancial staternents.

As per owr rgport of even date artached

Far and on bahalfl of Board of Directors of
Barque Hotels Private Limited

For B SR & Co. LLP

Chariered deconntanis

10CA] Firm Registration No.: 101248W:W- 100022
R o
-~
Y /'/ / /’//
/ Shwieta Kumar P . I Manish Bhagat
Fartner ~ Sireciod Director

Membership No.: 509822 DN 06813081 DIN: 08092409
Place: Gurugrum
Dhate: 29 May 2024

Place: Gurupsarn

Mace Curugram
Date 29 May 2021

Drate: 29 My 2024
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Barque Hotels Private Limited
CIN: US5101DL200SPTC175957
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Al amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

1.1 Corporate information

Barque Hotels Private Iimited (‘the Company’) is 2 Company domiciled in India. The Company was
incorporated in India on 27 March 2008 as per the provisions of Indian Companies Act and is limited by

shares.
'the Company is a hotel development and investment company with focus on operating internationally
branded hotels across key cities in the Indian sub-continent. The registered office of the Company is at

Caspia Hotels Delhi, District Centre Crossing, Opp. Galaxy Toyota Outer Ring Road, Haider Pur,
Shalimar Bagh, New Delhi, India, 110088.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has eleven hotels under it, out of which ten hotcls (Holiday Inn
Express - Ahmedabad, Bangalore Whitefield, Pune Hinjwadi, Gurugram, Pune Pimpri, Hyderabad Hi-
tech, Nashik, Chennai OMR, Hyderabad Banjara Ilills and Bangatore Tumkur Road are operational and
one hotel (Caspia Pro - Noida) is under renovation,

1.2 Basis of preparation

A. Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind
AS}) as per the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 notified under Section 133 of
the Companics Act, 2013, (the ‘Act’) and other relevant provisions of the Act,

The financial statements were approved for issue in accordance with the resolution of the Company’s
Board of Directors on 29 May 2024.

Details of the Company’s accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 2 and
Note 2.1.
B. Functional and prescatation currency

These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (INR), which is also the Company’s functionat
currency. All amounts have been rounded-off to the nearest millions, unless otherwisc indicated.

C. Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items,
which are measured on an alternative basis on each reporting date:

Items Measurement Basis

Financial assets and liabilities i.e., derivative Fair Value
instruments

Also, refer Note 52 for going concern basis of accounting used by the management,




Barque Hotels Private Limited
CIN: US5101DL2008PTC175957
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Al amounts in Rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

D.

Use of estimates and judgments

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates that affect the
application of Company’s accounting policics and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized prospectively.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are:

Provisions and contingencies

The assessments undertaken in rccognizing provisions and contingencies have been made in accordance
with Ind AS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, which involves key
assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

ity Useful lives and impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, capital work-in

progress, right to use assets and other intangible assets

The estimated useful lives and recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment, capital work-in
progress, right 10 use assets and other intangible assets arc based on estimates and assumptions
regarding the expected market outlook, expected future cash flows, obsolescence, demand, competition
and known technological advances. The Company reviews the useful lives and recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment, capital work-in progress, right to use assets and other intangible assets
at the end of each reporting date,

iiiy Employee benefit obligations

Employee benefit obligations (gratuity and compensated absences) are determined using actuarial
valuations, which involves determination of the discount ratc, salary growth rate and mortality rates.
Due to the estimates involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

Fair value measurement of [inancial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments recorded in the balance sheet in respect of which quoted prices
in active markets are not available are measured using valuation techniques. The inputs to these models
are taken from observablc markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment
is required in establishing fair values.

Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Also, refer
Note 42 for further disclosures.
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v)

vi)

Recognition of deferred tax assets / liabilities

Recognition of deferred tax assets/liabilities involves making judgements and estimations about the
availability of future taxable profit against which carried forward tax losses can be used. A deferred tax
asset is recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.

Deferred tax asscts are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Leases
Critical judgements in determining the lease period.:

Ind AS 116 required lessees to determine the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease adjusted
with an option to extend or terminate the lease, if the use of such option is reasonably certain. The
Company makes an asscssment on the expected lease term on a lease-by-lease basis and thercby
asscsses whether it is reasonably certain that any options to extend or terminate the contract will be
exercised. In evaluating the lcase term, the Company considers factors such as any significant leasehold
improvements undertaken over the [ease term, costs relating to the termination of the lease and the
importance of the underlying assct to the Company s operations taking into account the location of the
underlying assel and the availability of suitable alternatives. The lease term in the future possible
periods are reassessed to ensure that the lease term reflects the current economic circumstances.

Critical judgements in determining the discount rate:

The discount rate is generally based on the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lease being
evaluated or for the portfolio of lcases with similar characteristics.

vii) Measurement of expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

The Company uses a provision matrix to detcrmine impairment loss allowance on portfolio of its trade
receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over the expected
life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Current and non-current classification

Based on the time involved between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash
or cash equivalents, the Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle for determining
current and non-current classification of asscts and liabilities in the balance sheet.

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilitics. The Company has an established control
framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. The finance tcam has overall responsibility
for overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair vatues, and reports directly
to the Holding Company’s Chief Financial Officer.
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b

They regularly review significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. [f third party
information is used to measure fair values then the finance team assesses the evidence obtained from
the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of Ind AS,
including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Fair value ts the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a ltability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

s In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
e [n the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

When measuring the fair valuc of an assct or a liability, the Company uscs observable market data as
far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy bascd on the
inputs used in the valuation technigues as follows:

* Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

+ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Levei 1 that are observablc for the asset or liability,
gither directly (i.c., as prices} or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

= Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobscrvable
inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a lability fall into different levels of the fair
value hicrarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety at the same level of the
fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred,

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in Note 42.

Material accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment including capital work in progress are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses if any.

Cost of property, plant and equipment not ready for use as at the reporting date are disclosed as capital
work-in-progress.

Cost comprises the purchase price, import duties and other non-refundable taxes or levies, borrowing
costs if capitalization criteria arc met and directly attributable cost of bringing the assct to its working
condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring
the site on which it is located. Any tradc discounts and rcbates are deducted in arriving at the purchase

price.

[£ significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. \}\Oiefé\fo
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2)

Subsequent costs and disposal

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value
only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Company. All other expenses on existing properly, plant and equipment, including day-to-day repair
and maintenancc expenditure, are charged to the profit or toss for the period during which such expenses

are incurred.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of property, plant and equipment are measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized
in the profit or foss when the asset is derecognized.

Depreciation

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method (SLM) to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their cstimated useful lives (determined by the
management based on technical estimates). The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. In case of a revision, the unamortized
depreciable amount is charged over the remaining useful fife.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e., [rom/ (up to) the date on which
the asset is ready for use/ (disposed off),

The management estimate of the useful life of various categories of assets is as follows:

Asset Category* Management Useful life as per
estimate of Useful | Schedule II to the
o Life Companies Act, 2013
Building 5-60 years 60 years
Computers and accessories 3-10 years 3-6 years
Plant and machinery ) _ 5-30 years 15 years
[‘urniture and fixtures ' 3-8 years 10 years
Vehicles 8 years 8 vears i

* For the above class of assets, the management hased on internal technical evaluation, has determined
that the usefuf lives as given above best represent the period over which management expects to use
these assets. IHence, the useful lives of few assets included in the above asset categories are different
from the useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II to the Companics Act 2013,

Frechold land is not depreciated.

The residual values, uselul lives and methods of depreciation of property plant and equipment’s arc
reviewed by management at each reporting date and adjusted prospectively, as appropriate.

Intangible assets

Recognition and measurement

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company are measured initialty at cost. After initial
recognition, an intangible assct is carried at its cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment loss, if any.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits from the

specific asset to which it relates.
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Amortisation

Intangible assets of the Company represents computer software and are amortized using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life {at present three to ten years). The amortization period and
the amortization method arc reviewed at lcast at each financial ycar cnd. If the expected useful tife of
the asset is significantly different from previous estimates, the amortization period is changed

accordingly.

Gains or losses arising from derccognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the profit or loss
when the asset is derecognized.

3) Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

i.  Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other
financial asscts and {inancial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a party 1o
the contractual provisions of the instrument,

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing compencent) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that
are attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component

is initially measured at the transaction price.

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial assct is classificd as measured at

- Amortised cost
- Debt investment measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

- Fair value through profit or loss (FV'IPL)
- Equity investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the
Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measure at FVOCTI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
asat FVTPL: ol
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— the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company
may (rrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCT or at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the busincss is managed, and information s
provided 1o management. The information considered includes:

— the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual intcrest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilitics or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale
of the assets:

— how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;

—  the risks that affcel the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

— the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parlies in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, *principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

1

- prepayment and extension features;
terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse

features).
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Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial
| assets at
. _FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
including any interest or dividend incomc, arc recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets
at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently mcasured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
arc rccognised in  profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is

" recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments
at FVOCI

These assets are subseguently measured at fair vatuc. Intercst income
under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in
OCT are reclassified to profit or loss.

_Equily
Investments
at FVvOC(Cl

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends arc

| recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents

a rccovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses

are recognised in OCI and arc not reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial habilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such
on mitial recognition. Financial liabilities at FV'IPL are measured at fair valuc and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effcetive interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or [oss on derecognition is
also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in
which substantially ali of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
and does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred

assets are not derecognized.
Financial liabilities

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expire,

The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows
under the modified terms are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair valuc. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
tiability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss.
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Vi,

Vil

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet
when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to sct off the amounts and
it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the Hability simultaneously.

Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise compulsorily convertible debentures
denominated in INR that can be converted to equity shares at the option of the holder, when the number
of shares to be issued is fixed and does not vary with changes in fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is initially recognised at the fair value of a
similar hability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is initially
recognised at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and
the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the
liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound
financial instrument is not remeasured subsequently.

Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss (unless it qualifies for inclusion in
the cost of an asset). In casc of conversion at maturity, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and

no gain or loss is recognised.

Tnterest free loans

The Company has obtained interest free loans from its holding company. Such inlerest frec loans are
measurced at fair vatues determined using a present value technique with inputs that include future cash
flows and discount rates that reflect assumptions that market participants would apply in pricing such
loans. The difference between the transaction price and the fair value of such loans have been recognised
as equity component in the books of the Company. The loan component is subsequently measured at
amortised costs and interest expense is recognised using effective interest rate method. On modification
in the terms of such loans wherein they became repayable at the option of the borrower resulting in it
becoming perpetual debt such loans including accrued interest up to the date of modification have been

treated as other equity.
Non-convertible debentures

‘The Company had issued non-convertible debentures (NCDs) which have been treated as financial
liability in books and carried at amortised ¢ost.

Further, the Company has identified the redemption right as equity component. As the risks associated
with the underlying variable are not closely refated to the host instrument, the equily component has
been separately accounted for from the NCDs in other equity. The equity component was fair valued
through profit or {oss at each balance sheet date till their maturity in the previous year.
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viii. Modification of financial assets and liabifities

ix.

4)

Financial assefs:

[f the terms of a financial asset are modificd, the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this
case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value,

If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derccognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company
recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognizes the amount arising from
adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this casc, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with moditied terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Concessional overdraft facility

The Company has availed overdraft facility from banks at an interest rate lower than the market rate,
because its holding company has pledged fixed deposit with the banks for this overdraft facility. This
difference between the intcrest rate charged by the bank and market rate is treated as deemed equity
provided by the holding company, with a corresponding debit to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Impairment

Impairment of financial instruments

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at Fair value through profit and foss (FVTPL) are credit-impaired. A financial asset is “credit-
impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimatcd futurc cash flows of

the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

-significant financial difticulty of the borrower or issuer:;

-a breach of contract such as a default or being past due for two years or more;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider
otherwise;

-1t 1s probable that the borrower wilt enter bankruptcy or other financial rcorganization; or —
. . . o . o,
-the disappcarance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. Q\\Gt&? N
S _\“}//, N
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The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, except for
the following, which are measured as 12 month expected credit losses

debt sccurities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition,

ILoss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument,

12-month expected credit losses are the pottion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the

instrument is less than 12 months).

In all cascs, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initiat
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted cstimate of credit tosses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss alfowance
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-

looking estimates are analysed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets,

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partiatly or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay

the amounts subject 1o the write- off. However, financial assets that are written off could still getgtgl:!lj' Ct.
' ' s
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5)

6)

7

to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts
due. :

Impairment of non-financial asscts

The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date if there is any indication of
impairment based on internal/external factors. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable

amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s (or cash generating unit’s) fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market asscssments of the time valuc of
moncy and risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit (CGU)).

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGlJ exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. Impairment
loss recognised in respect of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated, if any to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU

{or group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An mmpairment loss in respect of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect of other assets for
which impairment loss has been recognised in prior periods, the Company revicws at cach reporting
date whether there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Such
a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset's carrving amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had

been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories which comprise stock of food and beverages is carried at the lowcer of cost and nct realisable
value. Cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventory to their present [ocation and condition. In detcrmining the cost, first in first out ("FIFQO")
method is used. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs to make the sale.

Government grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i)
the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant/subsidy will be

received.
Provisions (other than employee benefits)
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event and it is

probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance
cost. Provisions are reviewed by the management at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimates at each reporting date.

8) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or mere uncertain future events beyend the
control of the Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, or a present obligation whose amount
cannot be cstimated reliably, The Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its
existence in the financial statements.

9) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including exchange differences arising from foreign
currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred by
the Company in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to
acquisition and/or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use are capitalised as part of cost of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended in the period during which active development is delayed due to interruption, other than
temporary interruption. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit
and Loss in the peried in which they are incurred.

10) Employce benefits

(a) Short-term employee benefits

CEmployee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified
as short-term cmployee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-
gratia. The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits to be paid in cxchange for employce
services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees.

{b) Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Employee state insurance

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specificd
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards thesc schemes. The Company’s contributions are recorded as an expense in the statement of
profit and loss during the period in which the employee renders the related scrvice. If the contribution
already paid is less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the
balance sheet date, the deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a Hability after deducting the
contribution alrcady paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services
received before the balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the pre-
payment will lead to a reduction in future pavment or a cash refund. Olpi
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(c)

11)

Defined benefit plan — Gratuity

The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such
defined benefit plans are determined based on actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and mcasurcs cach unit separately to build up the final

obligation.

The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used
for determining the present value of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market
yiclds on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to
the terms of related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losscs arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the pertod in which they occur, direstly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss, Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments arc recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past

Service cosl.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations — Compensated absences

The employces can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize
it in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of cmploymeni. Since the
compensated absences do not [all due wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the refated service and are also not expected to be utilized wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The
Company records an obligation for such compensated absences in the period in which the employee
renders the services that increase this cntitlement. The obligation is measured on the basis of
independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. Re measurements as a result of
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions arc recognized in the profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reftects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to a customer i.e. on transfer of control of the
goods or service to the customer, Revenue is net of indirect taxes and discounts.

Contract asset represents the Company’s right lo consideration in exchange for services that the
Company has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the

passage of time.

When there is unconditional right to receive cash, and only passage of time is required to do invoicing,
the same is presented as Unbilled revenue.

A contract liability is recognized if a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is eatlier)
from a customer before the Company transfers the related goods or services and the Company is under
an obligation to provide only the goods or services under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized
as revenue when the Company performs under the contract {i.e., transfers control of the related goods

or services to the customer),
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The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Room revenue, sale of food and beverages and other services

Revenue is recognized at the transaction pricc that is allocated to the performance obligation. Revenue
comprises room revenue, sale of food and beverages, recreation and other services relating to hotel
operations. Revenue is recognised upon rendering of the services and sale of food and beverages which
is recognised once the rooms are occupied, food and beverages are sold and other services have been
provided as per the contract with the customer.

Space rental

Space rental income comprise amount earned for use of hotel premises space by other parties. The
income is recognised when services are rendered as per the terms of the contract and no significant
unceriainty exists regarding collection of consideration.

12) Recognition of dividend income, interest income or expense

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the datc on which the Company’s right to receive
payment is established.
Interest income or expense is recogniscd using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rale’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the tinancial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the assct is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
Ilowever. for firancial assets that have become eredit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If
the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

13) Foureign currency translation

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the
datcs of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currcneies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in the Statement of Profit and I.oss.

Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs arc prescated in the profit
or loss, within finance costs, Al other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit or

toss on a net basis.

14) Tncome taxes

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or item recognised directly in equity or in other

comprehensive income.
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Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
pavable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted

at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or

simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deterred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses and tax credits.

Deferred tax is not recognised for
* temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that:
- is not a business combination; and
at the time of transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and (ii) does
not give risc to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recogniscd for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. It thec amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognize a deferred tax asset
in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, ;
based on the business plans of the Company. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at cach reporting date and
arc reduced 1o the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized: such
reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting

date.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
fiabilities and assets and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax aathority on the same taxable
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax Habilities and assets on a net basis
or such tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultancously.

15) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it

may carn revenue and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with

any of the Company’s other components. and for which discrete financial information is available.
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief ..
operating decision maker (CODM). In accordance with Ind AS 108, “Operating chmcn}sf ‘dhes
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operating segments used to prescent segment information arc identified on the basis of information
reviewed by the CODM to allocate resources to the segments and assess their performance.

16) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable to equity
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the profit or loss for the period attributable to
equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are
adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential cquity shares, except where the results would be anti -
dilutive.

17) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash at banks and on hand, cheques on hand and short-term,

deposits with an original maturity of threc months or Iess, which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

18) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale comprising assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale if it is
highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.

Such assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets
and liabilitics on a pro rala basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred
tax assets, employee benefit assets, investment property or bioloegical assets, which continue to be
measured in accordance with the Company’s other accounting policies.

Impairment Josses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and [osses on re-
measurement arc recognized in profit or loss,

Once classified as held for sale, property, plant and equipment are no longer depreciated.

19) Measurement of earnings before earnings before finance costs, depreciation and amortisation, tax
and exceptional items

The Company has elected to present earnings before earnings before finance costs, depreciation and
amortisation, tax and exceptional items as a separate line item on the face of the Statement of Profit and
Loss. The Company measures ecamings before earnings before finance costs, depreciation and
amortisation, tax and exceptional items on the face of profit/ (loss) from continuing operations. In the
measurement, the Company does not include finance costs, depreciation and amortisation expense and

tax expense.
20) Exceptional items

On certain occasions, the size, type or incidence of an item of income or expensc, pertaining to the
ordinary activities of the Company is such that its disclosure improves the understanding of the
pertormance of the Company. Such income or cxpense is classificd as an exceptional item and
accordingly, disclosed in the financial statements. vole/™

CEERS
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21) Leases: Transition to Ind AS 116

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) through Companies (Indian Accounting Standards)
Amendment Rules, 2019 and Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Second Amendment Rules,
had issued Ind AS 116 “Leases” which replaced the existing lease standard, Ind AS 17 and other
tnlerpretations. Ind AS 116 sets out the principles, for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases for both  lessors and lessees. It introduces a single, on- balance sheet leases

accounting model for leases.

Company as a Lessee

On inception of a contract, the Company (as a lessee) assesses whether it contains a lease. A contract is
or contains a lease when il conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. To asscss whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset
(ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period
of the lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognises a right-of-use asset (“ROU™) and
a corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a
term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value ieases. For these short-term and tow
value leases, the Company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the leasc.

Lease contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates payments
in the contract to the lease and non-lcase components based on their relative stand-alone prices and

applics the lease accounting model only to lease components.

The right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the tease
liability adjusted for initial direct costs incurred, lease payments madc at or before the commencement
date, any asset restoration obligalion, and less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are also
adjusted for any re-measurcment of lease labilities. Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the leased assets or renewal of the leases at the end of the lease term, recognised right-of-
usc assets are depreciated to a residual value over the shorter of their estimated useful life or lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including ‘in-substance fixed’ payments) and
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, less any lease incentives receivable. “In-
substance fixed’ payments are payments that may, in form, contain variability but that, in substance,
are ynavoidable. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the leasec commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease term includes periods subject to extension options which the Company is reasonably certain
to exercise and excludes the effect of early termination options where the Company is not reasanably
certain that it will exercisc the option. Minimum lease payments include the cost of a purchase option
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22)

23)

Lcase habilities are re-measured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset if the
Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option and

any icase modification.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period over which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. In respect of variable leascs
which guarantec a minimum amount of rent over the lease term, the guaranteed amount is considered
to be an ‘in-substance fixed” lease payment and included in the initial calculation of the lcasc liability.
Payments which are ‘in-substance fixed' are charged against the lease liability.

Lease liability and ROU assct have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments
have been classified as financing cash flows.

Company as a Lessor

At the inception of the lease the Company classifies each of its leases as cither an operating lease or a
finance lease. The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a
straight- line basis over the lease term. In case of a finance lease, finance income is recognised over the
[ease term based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor's net investment
in the lease. When the Company is an intermediate lessor it accounts for its interests in the head lease
and the sub-lease separately. [t asscsses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-
ol-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a
short-term lease to which the Company applics the exemption described above, then it classifies the
sub-Jcasc as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Company applies Ind AS 115 Revenue
from contracts with customers to allocate the consideration in the contract.

Investment in subsidiary

Investment in subsidiary is carried at cost, less any impairment in the value of investment, in these
separate financial statements,

Expenditure

Expenses are accounted for on the accrual basis and provisions are made for all known losses and
liabilities.

2.1.Changes in material accounting policies

1) Material accounting policy information

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to Ind AS 1) from [ April
2023. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves,
they impacted the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant” accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosurc of accounting policics,
assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users need to
understand other information in the financial statements.
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2) Deferred tax related to asset and liabilities arising from a single transaction

The Company has adopted Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (Amendments to Ind AS 12) from 1 April 2023, The amendments narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exemption 10 exclude transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting differences
¢.g., leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and decommissioning liabilities, an entity is
required to recognise the associated deferred tax assets and liabilities from the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recogniscd as an adjustment to relained
earnings or other components of equity at that date. For all other transactions, an entity applies the
amendments to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the carlicst period presented.

The Company has not recognized deferred tax asset in books considering the significant carry forward
unabsorbed losses (Refer Note 9).

The Company has previously disclosed the deferred tax on leases by applying the ‘intcgrally linked'
approach, resulting in a similar outcome as under the amendments, except that the deferred tax asset
or liability was disclosed on a net basis. Following the amendments, the Company has disclosed a
separate deferred tax asset in relation to its lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its
right-to-usc assets as at 1 April 2022 and thereafter.
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CAI aamoqonts are B Rigpees andlions, wirless othenise viadedd)

5 Investment in subsidiary As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Tnvestmenls in equity instruments - at cost {enquoted)
Pailmech Hospualuy Private Limited, a subsediary 1272 120,72
L9497 552 (3 March 2023 - 1997332 aquity shares of [WNR 130 cach, fully paid-up
Decmed investiment in snbsidiary (Al cost)
[nterest free loans extendad to Paubrech Hospitality Private [imited® EEEN X
Less Provision for tmpairment m vaiie of investment in subsidiany (4972 (49 70
Jee.18 T1.00
Aguregare amount of unquoted investments 41500 2072
*Refer note & lor diselosioe in relation 1o conditions of mtcrest free loan extended.
& MNon-curvent financial assets - Loans As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

(T lsecieed convidered goed

To related parties

Loan to subsidiany® # (Refor note 41) - 2531

- 253,93

* Asal 31 March 2023, loar. to subsidiary represents amount given o Pzulmech lospilality Private Limsted carrying irterest e 12% pouand repavabie 15 per mulud sonsent between parties [.oan was given for
general corporate and project expenses Daring Lhe cutent year, the terms oF loan to subsidiary have changed wee 1 Gerober 2023 (0.

- [oan 1o be considered as perpetual debt

- Nil rale of Inlegrest

- Repavabkle at the option of the subs:diary
Accavdingly, the entire loan balance (incheding acerued interest of INR 127.80) as on 30 Sspterber 2023 has heen transferred to Peemed investment for [oan to subsidsary

# [ncludes interest acerued or loan 1o sulsidzary amounting to [N Nl (31 March 2023 0 TNR 124 0%)

Loans and advances to specified person

Ason31March 2024 | iOWMALIAWE ] SUMarch 2023 | % t0 talal loan & advances

Type of Borrower
advances

Paulmech Hospitality Private Limted {Subsidiary) - - 25393 lDU"fﬂ
% MNor-current financial assets - Qthers Asat As at
(T imse cured comsidered good) 31 March 2024 3T Marchk 2023
Bank deposits (due to matuee afler 12 months from the reporting date) * # 51354 46,66
Security depnsits 196 7362
133.50 12028
* Includes hark deposis under lien amounring eo INR 30 14 (31 March 2023 . INR U731
# meluding meerest acenied on hank depestes IR 0.4 {31 March 2023 - INR 0.98)
8 Other tzx assets Anat As Bt
31 March 2024 31 March 2623
2 56 534

Tax deducted a1 source
838
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9 income lax
A: The major components of income tax expense / {income) are
Recognised in profit or loss

Current tax
Deferrad tax

Recognised directly in Other comprehensive income
[neoime tax on other comprehensive income

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the vear ended
3T March 2023

B. Reconciliation of effective tax rate (tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Company's domestic tax rate)

For the year ended
31 March 2023

For the year ended
31 March 2024

% Amount % Amount
Loss before tax (26.837) (90%.30)
Tax using the Company™s domestic tax rate 2517 {6.76) 2517 (227.87)
Tax elfect of:
Nen recognition of deferred taxes on temporary differences 33073 {83.14) {5002) 45285
Non-deduchible differences {0.22) 0.06 {uon 0.09
Maon-convertibte debentures - - 2243 (203.08)
Others (356.68) 95 84 243 {21.99)
Effective iax rate - - - -
. Deferred tax assets / liabilitics

AS at As at

Dieferred tax assets

31 March X4

31 March 2023

Unabserbed business losses and depreciation 1.262.00 1,334.05
Provision for cmplovee benefits 752 6.94
L.oss allowance for doubtfut dehts (0Bl 0.36
Impaitment in value of investments 12,51 2.5t
Lease labilities 43.14 4823
hers 31.38 3341
1,357.26 1,435.50

Deferrved tax liabilities
Property, plant and eguipment, capital work-in-progress and other intangible assels 131.04 11994
Right of usc assets 81.38 81 58§
212.42 201,52
1.144.84 1,233.98

Deferred tax assets (net)

Deferred tax (assetsy liabilities recognized =

* As at year end, the Company has significant unabsorbed depreciation and carry forward business losses as per Income tax Act, 1961 I view of absence of rcasenable
certainty of sufficient future taxable profits, deferred tax assets has been recognized to the extent of deferred tax liahilities onfy.




Bargue Hotels Private Limited

CIN USS1HDL2ZO0SPTCIT5957

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
fA amonnts are (n Rupees mitlons, wnless othervise stated)

. Movement in temporary differences
31 March 2024

Balance as at

generated but not recegnised

Deferred tax differences
Particulars Balance as at generated but not recognised Balance as at
1 April 2023 during FY 2023-24 31 March 2024

{A) (B) (C=A+B)
Property. plant and equipment, capital work-in-progress and other intangiblc assets (119,94} (1116 {131.04}
Right of use assels (81.58) 0.20 {81 38)
Lease habilities 48.23 (5.09) 4314
Impairment in value ol investments 12 51 0.00 12,51
{Inabsorbed business tosses and depreciation 1,334.05 (72.09) 1,262 .00
Loss allowance for doubtiul debls 036 033 0.71
Provision [or employee benefits f1 94 .58 7.52
Others 31341 (2.03) 31.38
Total 1,233.98 (89.14) 1,144,584
31 March 2023

Deferred tax differences

Balance as ai

Particulars 1 April 2022 during FY 2022-23 31 March 2023
(A) (B) (C=A+B)
Property, piant and equipment, capital work-in-prograss and other intangible assets (162.07) (17.587) (119.94)
Right of use aysets {8430} 272 (B1.38)
Lease habilities 55.28 (7.05) 4823
MNon-convertible debentures {200.06) 20006 -
Impairment in valus of investments 12.51 - 1251
Unabsorbed business losses and depreciation 1,002.21 3384 1,334 03
Laoss allowance tor doubtful debts .25 1l 036
Disallowance under Saction 438 of the Income-tax Act, 1961 54,72 {3972} -
Provision for cmployee benefits 2,44 445 .54
Others 3511 (170) 3341
Total 781.14 452.84 1.233.98
E. T'ax losses and unabsorbed depreciation carried forward
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised with expiry date as follows
As at
31 March 2024
Amount Expiry Date
(Financial Year)
Business loss 127.30 2024-25
Busingss loss 224.30 2025-26
Business loss 494 41 2026-27
Business loys 261.74 2027-28
Bustness loss 4435 30 2028-29
Business loss 379.26 2029-30
Business loss 679.02 20130-31
Bustness loss 9597 2031-32
Unabsorbed depreciation 2.106.99 Never expire
A% at
31 March 2023
Amopunt Expiry Date
{Financial Year)
Business loss 60 01 2023-24
Business loss 12730 2024-25
Business loss 22430 202526
Business ioss 494 41 2026-27
Business loss 261.74 22728
Business Joss 443 30 2028-29
Business loss 579.26 2029-30
Business loss 1.002.76 2030-31
2105 31 Never expire

Unabsorbed depreciation
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Bargue Hotels Private Limited

CIN LA5101DL2OOBPTC175957

Nates to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 Mareh 2024
fAIF ennounts are in Rupees millions, wHess otherwise stated)

13 Current financial assets - Cash and cash equivalents

As at
31 Maich 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Cash an hand 103 1.63
Balances with banks :
- on currenl ageounts 3247 46 14
- in deposit accounts (with onigmal maturity ol Jess than 3 months)* 14.81 .
48.51 47.77
* including interest acerued on bank depostts INR 0.04 (31 March 2023 - INR Nil)
t4 Current {inancial assets - Bank balances other than cash and eash equivalents ahove As at As at
31 varch 2024 3 March 2023
Bank deposits (with eniginal maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months) * - 823
- 8.23
* including intercst accrued on bank deposits INR Nil (31 March 2023 - INR 0.24)
15 Corrent financial assets - Others As at As al
fLinsecured, considered good) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Bunk deposits (due o mature within 12 months from the reperting date) ## 004 081
.04 (%1
# [ncludes bank deposits under lten amounting to INR. Nil (31 March 2023 - INR 0.7()
* includes imterest acerued on bank deposits amounting to INR 0.01 (31 March 2023 - INR 0 08)

16 Other current assets As at As at
{Unsecured, considered good) 3t March 2624 31 Mavch 2023
Balance with govemment authotities 46 86 S
Advance to suppliers 13.04 4.66
Prepaid expenscs * 1675 13,29
Staff advance .79 .04
Other reccivables - .01

77.44 78.11
*Includes current portion of non-current prepaid expenscs amounting 1o INR 1.96 (31 March 2023 - INR 2.43)
17 Asset held for sale As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Assel held for sale * 00 70.00
(rain on fagr valuation of fand 300
Less: Asset reclassified to property, plant and equipment (freehold land) (refer note 3) (75 00 -

- 70,00

*The Company treclassified a parcel of [and and capital work-it-progress as assel held for sale in the year ended 31 March 2012 and the samc was measured at fair value less
cost to sell of INR 70.00. The fair value tess cost to sell was determmed by an independznt valuer basis the market approach by reference to sates in the market of comparable
properties. This asset has been reclassified to property, plant and equipment {freghold land) during the current year since the Company believes that the land is not actively
marketable Further, the difference between the recoverable value (INR 75 003 on date of reclassification and carrying value ([INR 70.00) amounting to [INR 5 ({0 has been
recegnized as an exceptional item in the Statement of Profit and Loss {Also refer note 37).




Barque Hotels Privale Limited
CIN USS101 PL200SPTCLTE95T
Wales to the financipl statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

AN qimpcnienty ov e ene ey naiflsoes, prdess ifleeusive stved

As ar As a1
18 Equity share capital 31 March 2024 31 Mareh 2023
Number of shares Amaunt Number of shares Amonnt
Awthorised share capital
Exuily shares of [INR 10 each 353089 B3 79 3R2TROTS 8379
38,378,973 383.79 38,378,975 IE NG
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up
Equity shares of INR 10 zach 38,375,080 3 TS 38375080 33373
3RI75,080 343,75 38,375,080 3B3TE
1) Reennciliatian ol the cquity shares fing al the beginning and at the end of reporling period
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
Authorised share capital
At the heginning of the year I8 3TR 0TS 3830 38 ITEUTS 183 79
Balance at the end of the year 38,378,975 38379 A83.378.975 38379
tssued, subscribed and Fully paid up
At the beginning of the vear 38,375,080 34375 38,375,080 383 73
Balance a1 the end of the year 38,375,080 383,78 IR ITE080 N 353,75

b) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares

The Conpany has only one class o equity shares having the par value of INR 10 per share. Each halder of equily shae is smiled 1w en vote per share. The equity shares are entitled o receive dividert as and when
dealared Tn the evemt of liguidation of the Company. the holder of equity steaes will be entitled 1o receive remaining assets of the Company, afier distribtion of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion

10 the number of cquity shares held by tive shareholders

) Dretails of sharchnlders holding move than 3% equity shares

Name of shazeholder

As at As at
3! Murch 2024 31 March 2023
“umpber of shares % of holding Number of shares "o of holding
Fquity shures on INR 10 each
3B.373,080 10x SRAIS08D {1

SAMEN Tlotels Timited, Ele'ding Company *
*1 equity share is held by M-, Gvana Das a5 & nominee shareholder

As per records o the Company, including its regisier of sharehobders! members and ather declarations received from sharehaolders regarding beneficial nterest, the above sharehohbicg wepesents soth fegal and beneficial

ownership af shares
d) Mo shares have been allotted without payment of tash or by way of bonus shares ur buughl back during the peried of five years nmediately preceding the Ralance Sheet datz.

2] Detaiis of promoters sharehalding as at vear end :

As al 31 Murch 2024

S0 Promoter No. of shares at the beginning | Change during the year| No. of shares at the % al Total Shares % change during the year
of the vear end of Lhe year
1 SAMHI Hotels Limited (TEoldtog Company) 3R.375.080 - 38,375,080 1005 . |
As at 31 March 2023
S.nu Fromater No. alshares at the beginning |[Change during the yeur] No, of shares at the % of Total Shares % change dering (he year
ol the year enif of the year
1 SAMHI Hotels Loniled (Hulling Company) I 38.375.080 - 38.379.080 100% -




Barque Hotels Privare |imired

CIN USS101DE2008P 1173957
Nates co the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

tAN amrozerts are 1 Rupees mnlhons, imdesy othernise stared)

1% {dher vquity As at Asat
31 March 2624 31 March 2023
Securities premium 1.546.11 1,396, 1¢
Retained carnings {3,111 02 {3,083.27)
Equity component of concessional overdraft facility 18.6% 18.62
Fruity component of interest fTee Toans fron Holding company 320033 246733
Fauity componen: of comvertibls PLE obligation 71006 T0.06
Equtly votnponent of fully compulsorily convertible dehenturces 17917 17907
543,34 1t6t.91)
a) Securities premiun
Halanee at the bepimnng of the vear 1,546,01 1.546.11
1,546,211 1.546.11

Ralance at the gnd of the year

Securities premium is used to record the premiun recetved on (ssue of shares. It is utilized in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Agr 2013

b} Retained earnings

Balance at the beginmng of the year (5.08377) (ETTAT

Toss for the year {26.87) (903.39)

Transferred frien other comprehensive income {0.58} {nd1)

Blalance at the end of the ysar 15,01L02) {5,083.27)

Retamned samings represenl the wmount of aceumnlared profits/losses) of the Company.

) (ther comprehensive income - Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (net of tax)

Balance at the beganomy of the vear - -

Femeasurcments of defined benefn Diatutity @ asset (net af taxy (0 8%) 0,41}

Transferred to retained eamings (.88 041

Balanee at the end of the year - -

Remzasuremenls of delined benetit liahiliey / asset comprises actuanial grins and losses.

d) Equity comp t af concesstonal overdraft facility

Balance at the beginning of the year 16.69 18 69
18.69 18.69

Ralance at the end of the vear

This represents the impact of overdraft factlity availed by the Company at an interest rate Jower than the market interest tate from the holding company

¢} Equity component of fully campulsorily convertible debentures

Balance at the heginning of the year [79.17 17907

Batanee ar the ond of the year 179.17 17917

This represents the far value of equity component of fully computsonly convertible debentures.

i Equity component of convertible PIK obligation

Balance at the beginning of the year TI006 72140

tuirial recognition of equity componesit of convettible PLK obligation - -

Met gain on fair valuation of equery component of converuble PLC obligation - (34
TED G 71006

Balance at the end of 1he yvear

This represents the far vatue of convertible PIK obligation of nan-convertible debentures. During the previous year, the Holding company has settled canvertible PIK obiigation throngh 1ssuc of
equity shares of SAMHBI Hotzls Limired (olding Company.

2} Equity companent of interest free loans from Halding company

Balance at the beginnung of the year 2.467.33 244733
Add : Loan from Holding Company received - recognized directhy in ocher equiry T33.00 2000
H2IML33 2,467.33

Baiance at the ead of the vear

This represents the equity component of the interest fiee loan received from SAMHT Hotels Limited, the Holding Comnpary. Befow ure the fenns of unsceured toan fram Holding Company
- Loan to be constdered as perpstual debr

- Mil rate of interest

- Repayable at the option of the Campany.
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Barque Hotels Private Limited

CIN L3S101DL2608PTC 175957

Notes to the Minancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(A comounts ure in Ropees milltons, unless otherrise stated)

21 Non-current financial liabilities - Lease liabilities As at Ay at
31 March 2024 3 March 2023
Lease liabilities {rerer note 26 25,59 143 82
125.59 143.82
22 Non-carrent provisions As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Provision for employee benefits
Gratuity (Reter note 33) 297 226
Compensated absences (Refor note 33) 458 30l
7.55 337
23 Other non-current liabilities Ay at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Income recetved in advance 71.95 7719
T1.95 7719
24 Caurrent financial lizbilities - Borrowings As at As at
(Secured) 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Current maturities of long-term borowings (Refer note 20) 49.41 11330
Cash credit and overdraft facilitics from bunk {secured) * 337.35 370142
386,96 483.72
*Includes interest accrued amounting to INR 2 8% (31 March 2023 - INR 3243
BParticulars Sanctioncd Amount [nterest rate charged per annum Repayment Terms Security details
(INR Millions) As at 31 March As at 31 March
CHibank, NA 400.00 | 3 months T-bill rate| 3 months T-bill rate| Repayvable on i) First exclusive morrgage on the Assets of]
=~ Mlargin (3.75%)]  + Margin {3.75% ) hlemand borrower and Asseis of Co- Borrowers (SAMIIL
fe 10779 ie LRI I%¥ Business Hotels Private Linuted and Argon
Hatels Private Limitad), including mortgape over|
leasghald nghts for leased assets.
n} Hypothecation on the receivables and Bank
ALY
112) 99% ol share pledye of the horrowers shares
and Non chusposal undertaking on the balance un-
pledged rone SAMH] Holels Limted.
tv) Corporale Guwrantee of  SAMHL Hotels,
Lomited.
258 Current financial liabilities - Lease liabilities As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Leasc liabilitics (refer note 46 ) 45 81 47 81
45.81 47.81
26 Current financial liabilities - ‘Trade payables As at AS at

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Trade pavables
- total owtstanding dues of micre enterprises and small enterprises; and 6.50 1.27
- total outstandme dues of credteors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 21518 146.01
221.68 147.28

a) Reler note 41 for dues to related parties
t+) The Company's exposurc to liguidity risks related to trade pavables 15 disclosed in Notc 42.
¢} Refer note 45 for disclosurss under Micro. Small and Mediumn Enterprises Development Act 2006 (MSMED)




Bargque Hotels Private Limited

CIN LSS101DE200SPTC175957
Notes te the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
FAN amounts are in Rupees milhans, uniess otherwise stated)

27

28

29

Trade payables Ageing Schedufe
As at 31 March 2024

Outstanding for folowing periods from due date of transaction

Particulars Acerued exp Less than 1 year 1-2 vears 2-3 yeary More than 3 years Total

MSME - 575 .25 030 - 6.50

Others 6250 151.40 .68 0.20 - 2{5.18

Toial 62,90 157.15 0,93 0,70 - 221.68

Ax at 31 March 2023

|— Dutstanding for following periods from duc date of transaction

Particulars Acerucd expenses | Less than [ vear I-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years Total

MSME - 0.77 0.50 - - 1.27

Olhers 60 34 §4.53 1.13 - 0.01 146.01

Total 61,34 85,50 1.63 - 0.01 147.28
As at As at

Current financial liabilities - Others

Emplovee related pavables
Payable for capital assets

Interest accrucd but not duz on borrowings {refer nate 200

Other current labilities

Advance from customsrs
Income received in advance
Statutory dues payable

Corrent provisions
Provision for employee benefits

Gratuity (refer note 33)
Compensared absences (refar note 33)

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

2233 1961
3571 -
103 6.03
59.09 25.64
As at As at

3t March X124

31 March 2023

672 633
523 523
.21 14.81
23.16 26.57

Asat
31 March 2024

Asout
31 March 2023

1.83 RN
3.6t 233
5.44 3,38




Barque Hotels Private Limited

CIN LS DL2ZO0SPT O L75957

Noates te the financial statements for the vear ended 31 March 2024
T8 cummenels e i Hapees sy, andess otherwise siaecli

30 Revenue from eperations

Sete nf products gmd servioes

For the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year ended
31 March 2023

- Room revenue 1, 408.63 1.270.81
- Food and beverage revenue [35.67 13360
- Recreation and other services 1605 1284
1,580.35 [,417.27

ey uperaling evennes
- Space rentals 3.30 324
3.30 3.24
1,583.65 1,420.51

The contract liabiiitics primanly relate to the advance consideration received from customers for which revenue is recoynized when the performance obliation is over/ services delivered.
Advance colleotion is recogrised when payment iz received befure the relatsd performance obligation is sausfiad. This includes advances received from the customer towards
rooms/restaurant. Revenue is recogmsed once the petformance obligation 1s met i.c. on reom stay/ sale of food and beverage, Ficess of revenue aver invoicing fs recorded as untsilled

reverue. Revenue recoanised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 15 same as the contracted price.

Cantract liabilities

As at
At March 2024

As at
31 March 2023

Advance from customers 6.7} 6.53
The amount of revenue of INR 4.42 (3F March 2023 INR 6 7t) recognised in the reporting period was included in advance frotm customer tulance at 1he bepmnng of Lhe period.
Trade Receivahles R HS 62 36
Note: Considering the natars of business of the Company, the above tradi reeewvables is converted inta cash within the same operating cycle.
31 Qther income For the year ended For the year ended
31 ¥March 2024 31 March 2023
Interest tncome fron frnancial assefs at amortised cost
- bank deposits 133 659
Govermment grant - 0.13
Enwmnding af disconmd on security deposit 799 81
[hterest on ingome rax refund - 043
[nterest on advance recoverahle 217 334
Provesion ! Lakilibes no longer requited written back 238 263
Net gain on tair valuation of equity compeonent of cotvertible PIK obligation - 1134
Amorisieion of income received in advanes 523 5.23
Insirance ncome 1.35 1.84
Miscellaneous incotne 017 0.03
£9.61 38.27
32 Cost of materials consumed For the year ended For the vear ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Consumption of feod and beverages
Inventery at the beginnmg of the vear 306 2.00
Add: Purchases 0362 101.83
Inventory at the end of the year {2.77) {3.06)
103.91 L6477
33 Employee benefits expense Fur the year ended For the vear ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Salaries, wages and bows 181.68 157.08
Contribution to provident fund and other funds (refer ' below) 1255 10.28
Compensated absences {refer b below 537 2a7
Staft welfare expenscs 24.75 21.68
224.75 19196

a. Defined Contributien plans

The Company makes contributions, detzrmined as a specifisd percentage of employver salaries, in respect of qualifymp employees towards Provident Fund, Labour Wettare Tund and
Employees' State Insurange, which are defined contribution plans. The Company has no obligations other than to make the specificd contributions. The contributions are charged ta profit or
toss as they acerue. The amount recognised as an expenss towards contribution to Provident Fund, Labour Welfare Fund and Emplovess State insurance for the vear agoregated to [NR
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Notes to the financiat statements for the vear ended 31 ¥larch 2024
(AL crmrounts e Rapees waiffons. undess othemene sored)

b, Compensated absences
The: Principal assumptions used m determinng the obligation arc as given balow:

For the year ended Fur the year ended
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2623
%l " (]
Discounting rate (p a.) 15 704
550 550

Fusture salary inctease ( pad

<. Defined Beeefit Plan

The Company has a defined benefit grawity plan Every employee who has completed five years or more of service gets a pratuity on departare at |5 days salary (Jast drawn salary) for sach
completed year of service or part thereof in excess of six months. The scheme is not funded.

These plans typically expose the Company to actiarial risks such as: investment nisk, inherent interest rate risk |, longevity nsk and salary tisk.
Investment risk
The present value of the defined bensfit plan liability {denominated in Indizn Rupee) is calcutated using a discount rate which is determined by reforenca to market vields at the end of the

repenting peried on govermnent bonds.

Iahcrent interest rate risk
The defined benefit obligation calculated uses a discount rate based on government bonds. [f bond yields fall, the defined benafit oblipation will tend (o increase.

Longevity risk

The present vatue of the defined benetic plan lability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the martality of plan participants both during and after thewr employtoent. An increess
in the life expsctancy of the plan participants will increase the plan's Habiliey.

Salary risk

Higher than expected incrzases in salary will increase the defined benedil obligalin.

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognized m profit or loss and amounts recopnized in 1he Balance Sheet fur the said plan:

a) Expense recognised in slaterment of profit and loss

For the vear ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Current service cosl 0.89 .66
[nterest cost .23 14
Tatal included in "Emplovee benefils expemse’ 1.12 0.5G
b} Remezsurements recognized divectly in other eomprehensive income
Far the vear ended Tur the vear ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Wit acturai (g loss recognized in the year from-
- ¢changes in demographic assumptions [QIE] (Y 16y
- changes i financial assumptions {010y {8,161
- clunges 0 gxpenience adjustments 241 13173
Amaunt recognized in other comprehensive income .88 0.41
) Chunge in present value of benefit obligation
For the year cnded For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 Mareh 2023
Present value of obligation as at the heginning of the year 331 2.85
Current service cost 0.849 0.66
[nfgrest cost 023 id
Remeasurements of defined henafit liahility ¢ assel {net of tax) 088 041
Benefits paid (0511 (0.75)
Present value of ehligation as at the end af the year 480 331
d} Amaunts to be recognized in Balance Sheet
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Present value of the defined benefit oblipation at the end of the vear 4.80 331
Funded status - -
et liability recognired in the Balance Sheet 4.80 3,31
Mon-gument 247 224
183 L.0s5

Clurrent
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c} The Principal assemptions used in determining the gratuity benefit obligation are as given helow:

Ay at As at
31 March 2024 31 Marck 2023
Ecenamiv assumplivns b £
Discounting rate {p.a.) TS 704
5.50 3.50

Future salary increase (p.a.}

The discount rate is generaily based wpon the market yields available on Government bonds at the aceounting date with a term that matches that of the liabilities. The weighted average
duration of the defined benefit obligation is 0.92 vears (31 March 2023 - 0.1 years)
The salary growth rate takes account e inflation, seniority, promotion and ather relevant factors on long tenn basis

Asal As at
Dentographic assuniptions 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Retirement Age (years) 58 58
Withulrawal Rate
Apes
Up 1o 30 Years TE% 8%
From: 31 to 44 years 8% TRY
Above 44 vears TR T8%
Mortalily rate 100% Indian gssured lbves madality 100% Indwan assured lives movialily
(202 - 14) (2012 - 14)

f) Uhe Company's best estimate of expense for the next vear is INR 101 (3] March 2023; INE 0.80)

£). Sensitfivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant acthaarnal assumptions, holding otler assumptions eonstant, would have affected the defined benefit abligation by the

amounts shown below.

31 March 2024
[ncrease * Decrease *
(0.04) 0.04
0.04 (11.04)

Ehscount rate {0.5% ntoveingnt)
Future salary growth (0.5% inovemnent)

310 March 2023
Increase * Decrease *
(.03 003
0.3 (003

{Jisoaunt rate (0 5% movement)
Futvere salary growth (9. 5% movemens)

Altheugh the analysis does nof take account of the full distribution of cash flows expeeted under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the seusitivity of the assmgptans shown.

* Positive amomnt represents increase in provision and neygative amount represents decrease in provision

hb

h) Maturity profile of defined benefic

As at
Year 31 March 2024
Ot ] Year L83
1102 Year 218
2o 3 Year 049
3tod Year 011
4103 Year .02
Sto6 Year .01
& Year onwards 0.1é
4.80
As at
Year 31 March 2023
Tto | Year L0
1te 2 Year 1H)
2103 Year 038
Ftod Year 108
4105 Year nnz
Ftod Year (.00
.08

& Year onwards
3.3
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For the year ended
31 March 2024

34 Finance costs

[nterest expense on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost on

For the year ended
31 March 2023

Loans from banks and Gnuneial institutions 2B0.69 N7
Noti-convertible debwntures # - 111982
Interest expense an lease liabilities 18,69 22.06
Interest expense on delay in deposit of statutory dues .24 0.5
Oiher finance costs 20.50 14.47
31912 1,186.70
# net of rolerest moome on loan funds amounting to [NR 15.28 (31 March 2023 - INR 26.73)
35 Depreciation and amoestisation expense For the yeur ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Depreciation on property, plant and cquipment 16527 15376
Depreciation on Right-of-use assets 13.63 17.62
Amorlisation of inlangible assets 183 354
185,78 174.96
36 Other expenses For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Rades and raxes 179% 1719
Training expenses 3.40 248
Power, fuel and waler B1.30 8392
Rent (refer Note 46) 118 51 102.27
Comnussion 12318 109 77
Management and ingentive fecs 74 87 65.03
Repair and maintenance
- Buldeng 10.94 11.84
- Machnery 26,40 2282
- Others 032 .98
Travelling and conveyance 1823 14.08
Communication 2258 1%.29
[hsurance 597 5.40
Proviston for bad and doubtiul debts .49 .35
Comsumprien of stores and supplies 63,03 38.01
Creneral admunistration expenses 11.19 580
Contractual iabour 30,97 45 96
Payment to auditors (reter belmy) * 2.42 176
Legal and pratesstonal charges (refer note 47} 121.98 83,59
Adverntisement and business prometion 57.97 19,52
hesesllaneous expenses 005 3.53
822.78 709.78
“*Payment to anditors
Staturtory audit 220 1.63
Remmbursement of expenses (22 G113
2.42 1.76
37  Exceptional items For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Reversal of provision for impatrment in value of property, plant and equipment, right (31.18)
of use asset and mtangible assets {refer note 513, .
Gain on fair valuation of land held for sale (refer note 17). {3.00) -
(36.18) -

38  Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS is caleulared by dividing the toss for the year attributable to equity sharcholders by the weighted average number of equity shares culstanding ducing the year.
Diluted EPS is catenlated try dividing the loss for the year attnbutable to the equity sharsholders by the weighted average aumber of equity shares outstanding during the year pius the

weighted average number of equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential equity sharss into equay shares.

For the vear ended
31 March 2024

Meet loss attributable to eguily starsholders 126 87)

Waghted average number of cquity shares cutstanding during the vear for calculation

of basic EPS 38,375,080

Weighted average number of equity shares owstanding during the year for calcukation

of diluted EPS 38,375,080
10.00

Nominal valuz of equity share [TNR)

Basic loss per share ([(NR) T (070
. LR nafe:y
Dilwied tss pe {INR. ARSI 0.70
il e{i_crss pi.t'_:shz._i:rr: (: } (\ A o
_. R : _. ._ / 5 J:;(

For the year ended
31 Mareh 2023
[905.39)

38,375 080

38,375,080

16.00
(23 59)
(23.59)
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Contingent liabilities and commitments
fto the extent not provided forj

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Commitments
151,77 -

E:stimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and others, and
not provided for

Confingent liabilities

(1} The Company is subject to lcgal proceedings and claims on account of Hosur tand dispute. During the vear ended 31 March 2023, the Company had received a
tavourable order from the High Court of Karnataka wherein the High Court has quashed the proceedings and dirceted Karnataka Industrial Areas Development Board
(KIADB) to release the compensation of INR 29.84 o the Company. Subscquently the opposing partics moved applications before lower courts seeking multiple
reliefs against which the Company has filed counter claims and appeals. Despite the favourable order from the Hi gh Court of Karnataka, KIADB has passed an order
1o continue to deposil compensation amount with the civil court during current vear. The Company has filed a Writ Petition challenging the aforesaid order of
KIADB. The management is of the view that based on the merits of the arguments put forward and facts of this case, the outcome is likely 1o be in the favour of the

Company and no provision is required to be created in the books,

(i) The Company had received an assessment order for {inancial year 2016-17 whereby an addition of INR 296.97 had heen made to the total income of the
Company. The addition pertains 10 unreasonable share premium under Section S6(2Xviib) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 and unbilled reveaus, nat incleded in income
offercd Lo tux. The Company has filed an appeal before the Cormissioner of Income-tax {Appeals) against the said addition which is pending for disposal.

{iii} The Company had reccived a penalty order ufs 271C of the Tncome-tax Act, 1961 for inancial year 2016-17 whereby a penalty had been impesed on the
Company of INR 101, The Company had filed ar appeal before the Commissioner of Income-tax {Appeals) against the sard penalty order which is pending for
disposal. Based on the merils of the arguments put forward, the Company is of the view that the outcome will be in its Favor and no pravision is required to be created
in the books.

(iv} In February 2019, Supreme Court of India in its judgement clarified the applicability of allowances that should be considered to measure obligativns under ‘The
Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952, The Company has been legatly advised that there are interpretative challenges on the
application of judgement retrespectively and as such does nol consider there is any probable obligations for past periods. For the period 1 March 2019 to 31 March
2019, the Company had made a provision for provident fund contribution in the books of accounls amounting to INR L.58, subsequent 1o which based on legal
adviee, the Company had reversed the provision amounting to INR 140 in the previous vear ended 31 March 2020,

(v} Applications have been filed beforc the Commissioner under the Employee's Compensation Act, 1923 by the legal heirs of two employees of the Company's Hoiel
situated in CGurgaon and had met with an unfortunate fatal accident approximately. seven hours afier end of their shift. By way of the aforesaid applications, the
families of the deceased were secking amounts upta INR 7.00 from the Hotel allegedly claiming that the accident had oceurred during and arising out of the course of
their employment against which the Campany had reasonable grounds Lo contest. During the current yvear, the case has heen dismissed in default, since the claimants

failed o appear before the authority.

Operating Segments

The Holding Company's Chiet Exceutive Officer has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker ('CODM'), since he is responsible for ali major decision
w.rt the preparation and cxccution of business plan., preparation of budget, planning, alliance, merger. acquisition and expansion of any new facility, CODM has
cxamined the Company's performance from product and geographic perspective and has identified a single business seament 1.e. "Developing and running of hotels”,

hence no specific disclosures have been made.

A. Infermation about products and services
The Company primarily deals in one business namely "Developing and running of kotels", therefore product wise revenue disclosure is not applicable.

B. Information about geographical areas
The Company provides services 10 customers in [ndia. Further, there are no assets located outside Tndia,

€. Information about major customers {from external cusfomers)
The Company does not derive revenue from one customer which would amount to 10 per cent or more of the Company’'s revenue,
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Related party disclosures

#) Related party and mature of related party relationship where control exists:

Mame of refated party

Nature
Holding Company SAMHI Hotels Limired
Subsidiary Paulmech Hosputality Povate Linuted

k) Related parties with whom fransactions have taken place during the current year/previous year:

Description of relationship

Name of related party

Holding Company

5AMHI Hotels Limized

Subsidiary

Paulmech Hospitality Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary

ACIC Advisory Privare Limited (w.e.f 10 August 2023)

Fellow Subsudiary

Ascent Hotals Private Limited

Fellow Subsidiary

Argon Hotels Private Limitad

Fellow Subsidiary

SAMIIT IV Business Hotels Private Limited

¢) Related party transactions during the current year/previous year:

Purticulars

Holding Company

Fellow Subsidiary/Subsidiary

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

Lasecured loan given

Paulmach Hospitality Private Limited

6.80

Modification in terms of loan given - Classified as deemed investiment

Paulmech Hospitality Private Limited

267.68

Liasecured luown given - directly recognised as deemed investment

P'aulmech Hospitality Private Limuted

27.50

Loar from Holding Company received ¢directly recognized in other
equity)

20.00

Interest incone Go unsecured loan

Paulmech Hosputality Drivate Limired

1528

26.73

Lepal and professional fees {including expitalised amount in CWIP)

SAMHI Hotels Limited

7091

ACIC Advisory Privale Limited

Reimbur t of expenses incurred

SAMHI Hatels Limiled

.50

Sambhi IV Business Hotels Private Lumited

Ascent Hotels Private Limited

Net gain an faie valuation of cquity ecamponent of Convertible PIK
obligntion

SAMHI Horels Fimited

{1i.34)

Revenue from eperations

SAMIH Hotels Limited

211

[n addition o ransactions mentioned above,

-The Holding Company has given a guarantce for refund of professionat fee lo InterContmental Hotels Group {India) Prevate Limited {“Manager”} ¢ InterContinental Hotcls Group
(Asia Pacific) Pte. Ltd ("Licensor") in case of canceltation of the Operating Services agresment with the operator,
- The Company has provided securities to its fellow subsidiaries (SAMH! IV Business Hotels Private Limited and Argon }lotels Private Limited) amounting [INR 5,698 (31 March

2023 - INR 5,698),

Particulars

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

- Samhi JV Business Holels Private Limited
- Argon Holels Private Lemited

{Represents the limits sanctioned by banks and financial institutions te fellow subsidiaries on account

of the security given by the Company)

4,360

1,338

4,360
1,338

- Refer Note 20 and 24 for the securities! guarantees provided! received by the Company on behalf of its related entitics for loans obtained from banks and francial institution.
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d) Relted purty balances as at year ead

Particulars

Hoiding C

|5 g

Fellow Subsidiary/Subsidiary

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

3i March 2024

31 March 2023

Equity component of Fully compulsorily convertible debentures

SAMHI Hotels Limited

179.17

17917

Equity component of cont T overdraft faeility

SAMEI Hotels Limied

18.6%

18.69

Equity component of interest free loans from, Holding company

SAMHI Hotels Lirmited

3,200.33

2.467.33

Equity companent of convertihle PIK obligation

SAMIT Hotels Limited

710.06

T10.06

Trade payables

SAMHI] Hotels Limited

124.89

49110

Ascent Hiels Private Limited

Payable for capital ussets

SAMHI Hotets Limited

[5.85

Tradc receivables

SAMHI Hotels Limited

0.05

(.00

{(ther receivahles

SAMHAI Hotels Limited

0.50

o

Investment in ry

Pauimech Hospitality Private Limited

120.72

120,72

Provision for impairment in value of investments in suhsidiary

Paulmech Hospitality Private Limited

49.72

A9.72

Deemed investment - Unsecured inlercst Free loans

Paulmech Hospitality Private Limited

20518

Loan to subsidiary {including accrued interest)

Paylmech Hospitality Privaie Limited

2533.93

Outstanding bulences at the year-gnd are unsecured and are settlement occurs in cash
Far the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Company has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is

undertaken at each repotting period.
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Bargque Hotels Privaie Limited

CIN USEI0IDL200SPTC I 75957

Motes to the linancial starements for the year ended 31 March 2024
CAH enmenonts are r Rilees mifons, rrdesy odwiwvise satedd)

44 Disclosure as per Imd AS 27 - Separate Finzncial Statements

Ownership interest at

Name of subsi Principal activity Principal place of business
As at Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Paulmech Hospatality Private Limited TTatels [ndia [LEEE 100%%
The aherve invesiments in subsidiary 5 measursd ac cost.
lidated Gnancial 585 1 i 8 whoily-owned subsidiary of SAMEE Totels Limited

Accerding 1o paragraph ) of Tid AS 110: Consolidated Financial Statements, the Coopaey has elected not <o Presise oo
naving its place of business in [ndia and instead prepares sepa:ale fingngiak Ths zonsclidaed Fnancial statements ars prepared at SAMON Horels Lamited lewvel and kap: an eir place of tusmess (e Casp

Hutels Delhi, district centee crossing. uppusite galaxy toyola outer ring road, haiderour, shalimar bagh, nocth west. delhi, [ndiz, |10388). The Company holds 100% shares =1 Paubmeeh Huspitahsy Private famited

hawing a place of business in ind:a.

45 Disclosures under Vicro, Small and ¥edinm Enterprises Development Act, 2006 {MEMED)

~ Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Thzes (v micry, small and medium suppliers
The amounts remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the year.
Principal amowunt 6350 127
Imterest theneon 094 [}
The amounl o irtezest ped by the buyer as per the Mhices Small and Medivm Emerprises -
Dreveiopment Act, 2006 fMEMED Act, 2006)
The amouct of payments made to Micrs zod Smali Suppiiers bevond the appoimed day during cach -
accounting yaar
The amount of interest due and pavalide for the period of delay in making pryment (which have bees oe 0.25
paid but beyond the appointed day duneg the yesr) bue without adding the interest specified under
MSMED Act 2008
The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each ecounting year 094 075

.94 073

The anoum of further interest :emaining due #nd payable even ir: the succeeding years, undil such
date when the wierest ducs as above are zerally paid ro the small enterprise for the purpose of
disallrwance a5 a deduct:bie expendi-e under section 23 of the MEMLD Act 2006,

The management lias ilenbficd ¢nerprises which have provided zoods and services to the Company and which qualisy under the definition of mivio and sroall enterprises. a8 defined under Micro, Sme3 and Medium
Enterprises Development Ao, 2006 (MSMED). Accerdingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable 10 such enterprises as at 31 March 2029 and 31 March 2573 has been mde in the financial statements

based on informarion received and available with the Comparny.

46 Lease disclosures

o

Derails of reni expenses: . o

; Far the year ended 31 March | For the year ended 31 March 2023

Particutars
2024
| Expunse relzsing te varizhle leass payments 11831 102 27
Tatal Rent - ] 118,51 102.27
The following tabic presents a maturity avalysis of expected undiseaueted cash Qows for lease labilites
Particulars As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
0-1 year 45.81 47 81
1-2 vears . 3347 43 41
2:5 yewrs 6978 o HAW
Moare than 5 vears | 212 37 .22
Total Lease payments | 360.93 39564
The reconcrdiation of lease liabilities s as fbyws:
r Particulars - As at 31 March 2024 | As at 3 March 2023
Cpreanng balance 191 63 ] 219463
Additigns 073 5.83
Amounts recagnized w Suement of Profi and Loss as interest cvpense 4.6 LLn0e
Payment of lease liabilities . (49 65) {5691}
Closiog Balance {Refer Nole 21 and 26) 171.40 191.63
Non cuerent lease Babilities 13559 143,82
45 8| 4781

Cuczent lease liabilities

Leases entered by the Company are long term in rature aod the underlying leased properties are heing used as hotel propartes.

47 Duneg the curren: yest, SAMBI Hetels, Limited (1he Holding Corpany) has alocated cepenses amounting LNR 121,25 (13 March 2023 - INR 70.91) as Company’s snare of project espenses and othen cost incurred

Out of this 2llocatesd cost, [NE 11113 (31 March 2023 - TNR N3 has been transferred o capital work-in-propress, as these costs were altnibulable 1o the vomstriction of projects.
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Harque Hotels Privare Limited
CIN Us5101DL200RPTC17 5957

Notes to the Tinancial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
LA cophornis ave s fupees andfony, aless offierwase st

48 New standards and interp.

gl yed

Ministry of Corporate Affairs £ M{TA"Y netifies new standazls ur amendments w e existing standards under Companies {Indian sccounting Standaeds} Rules as ssued fram time totime As at 31 March 2024, MUA has aat
notified any new standards or amendmenms to the acoounting starcards which are effectve from | April 2024,

49 Ratios a5 required by Schedule 111 to the Companies Ace, 2013:

Ratia in times/% N D 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 | Increase’ {decrease) % Remarks
Current Batiz In times Taal Currpnt Total Current 0218 037 -23%% | Singe the variance is less than 25%
Agsels Liakilitizs there 5 Mo Tequirement 1o disciose
the reason
Drebt-Equity Ratio in times Tural Borrowings | Total Equiry 2.54 13 %2 -82%|Debt-Equity  Ratio has  reduced
mainly due to redecton i tetal
horrowings
Debt Szrvice Coverage Ralio Ir times Tewrnings before [nterest Payments 1 1.04 Gl 6% Debt  Service coveraze ralio  has)
fin#nce costs, Principal Repayments improved  due  te repayeent  Off
depreciation and botrowing
amortisacion, tax
anit exceptional
items
Reluin on Lquity Ratio In% Loss for the vear [ Average Torl Foguity 1 8% 2135 06% ~&7%|Return on equity ratio has improved
due te reduction in losses  and
improved business activity during the
cufTent yezr.
Trvertoy tuwinover ratic ¥ Tn imes Cost of goods sold | Average Inventery NA NA NA MA
Trade Receivables turnover ratio i times Revenue from Average Trarde 212 340 -33%| Trade receivabues tbrnover ratio has|
opeTetions Receivadles decreased due 'n mgrease m everage
trade receivables
Trade payables turnover ratio Tnn times Cost of materials [ Average Trade 502 5.00 0%|Sinee he vaninnce 55 less than 25%;
constned + Othes | Pavables there is no roquirement to dischosel
expenses the reason
Met capitz! turnover ratu [n times Revenue frnm Average working (3.18) (7.30) -56% |Decrease i due to  increase
operatins captlal average working vapital (negative).
Net predfit ratic Tn %% Liss for the year [ Revenue from -1 709, -63.74% -37%|Nel profit ratio improved due ta
uparations improvement  In busingss  activity|
turing $he vear
Return on Capitz: employed In % Peoditi(ioss)  before| Capital Employed 823% 8 53% B%|Since the variance is less than Z3%%
Anzace costs  and| Tangible Met Worth — there 15 0w reyuirement to disciose
laxes Tutal Borrowings the: reasom
Return on icvesiment 4 In % Entercst (Finance | Tnvestrent NA NA NA NA
Tngame}

The Company has 20t presented the following ratos dee to Lhe reasons given below:

* Inventory turnover ratio. Since the value ulinvemtory is insigrificant as compared to the tanal assots.

# Returd ao investments: Since the Company invests surplus weenporary funds in short-term bank depiosils ard the mcome generated from it is insignificant to total turnover

30 Other statutory information

{f) The Company dogs not have any Bewami progerty, where any procesding has bea

{ii} The Company does not have any transactions with companies struck off
(iiiy The Compamy does noi have any charzes or satisfaction which i3 vet to be ragistered with ROC beyond the statiiory periad.
(i} Tt Company bas not traded ar invested in Crypoo eurrensy o Virtuat curency during the fnsocial vear

{v] The Campany has not advanced or loaned ar invested fimds Lo uny otber person{s) or entity(ies), mcluding Freigr enrites (Inrermediarics) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall:

aled or pending sgairst the Company for holding any Besam: property

(a) dicectly or andlireetly lend or tavest in other persons or ensities identified in any manner wharscever by ot on behaif of the Company (Ulimate Bencficiaries) or
(b) provide any guarartee. security or the like to ot on behall of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

{vi)The Company hes net received ary fitad from any personis) ar entity(ies), including lorein entives {Funding Party) with the understaeding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Comparny shall,

{2} directly or indirectty lend or wvest m other persons or endities identified in any manmer whatsoever by or on bekalf of the Funding Party {Ultimate Beneficiaries) o

(b) provide any puarantee, security ar the like on behalf of the Ulimate Beneficiaries

[vil

{such as, search ar survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, (261}

[wiii) The Company has not heen dechared a willful deaulter by amy bank or cther lender (a5 defined under the Comparies Act, 2613}, in accordance with the

S

e Company does noet have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of zocourts thar has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the {ncome Tax Act, 1968

e wallfiad defaulte:

[¥The tine deeds of immavable properties {other than immovable properties where the Company is the lesses acd Lhe lease aureements are duly executed in Svour of the lessee) disclosed in the financial statements are held in

the name of the Company. However, ocginal tule deeds are huld by trusiee during the year eaded 31 March 2024,
{x) The Company has been senctioned workmg capital limits in excess of five crore iupees, in apuregate. from banks or Fnarcial institutions on ke basis of secur-ty of current assers As per the teems of sanction lotters of such

bimits, there are 1o requirements un the Company w0 submit quarterly retrns or satements with such tank or firancial institution.
(%1} Thee Company has not aranted any loans or advances in the nature of loans to promaters, direcioes, KVPs and the related partics {as defined under Companies Act, 2013) either severally ar jointly with any othet pesson that

are repayakle on demand or without specifymg any 1erms ar peniod of repayment.
t¢ii) The Company has used the borrowings from bank and fimancial institution far the specific purpese far which it was taken.
{xiil) The Company bas complied with the number of layers prescribied sader the Companies Act, 243

(xivy The Company has not enzered into any schere of arrangement which has an accountss bpact o cucent ur previous Snancial years.

[z} The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (incloding 1ight-ofuse assets) or intanginle assets or botn during cuerem or previous yeass
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Notes to the fnancial stmements fae the year ended 31 March 2024
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51 Impairment of asset

Traprirmeend testing for coxh-generatiag anity

[n accordarce with tnd AS 36 "Impaitment of Assels”. the Corpany had identidied individual hotels tzonmsting ol property, plant and equipment, skt ol use assets and other nlangthle dssets) 45 4 separate cash senerating
st for the purpuse of impairment review. Manageman: pesiodically assesses whether there is an indication ihat 22 xsser may he impaired (mcluding impairment reversal) csing a campareson between carrying valle of assers in
books and the recoverable value, Recoverable value s comsderedd as higher of fair value less costs of dispasal and value in Lse.

Recoverable amount is the value in use of the hotel and 1 busen] on discounied cash ow method which was classified a5 2 evel 3 fafr valug in the Rir value hictarchy due to 17 inclugion ol ane o mere unobservable inpurs.

There has been no change in the valuation technque a3 compared o previous years

Asat 3. March 2014 impamens loss revognised in books i respeat 1n the garrving value of property, plant and equipments, reht of use assets 2nd other intangible sssets is as fallows:

Asset As al 1 April 2023] lmpairment IuwT As ut 31 March
{Reversal) 2014
Hotbeday Inn Express - Pune, o ewad: 3278 - 2T
Holiday Tnn Express - Pure, Pisngri 52,05 - B2 8
Holiday lon Express - Mashik, Amoad 45 Né - 43 G
Haolidey Inn Express - Chenrai, OME, G330 - 93.30
Floliday nn Express - Hydezabad, Rasjara Hills * 43 93 (43.93) -
Total 20713 {43.93) 25324

™ During the current financial vear ended 31 March 2024, the Company has remeasursd he carrving value of the assets for Hokday [nn Express - Vivderabad. Ranjara Eills and reversed 1ke impairment loss of INR 31018 (ne: of
depreciation] recorded in books in earlier years. The reasen for reversal of inpairment is due to smproved actual pe rmarce of ths COL s compazed Lo budyets. The same bias been recordesd as gain on reversal of impairment

under the head exceptional item in the cusrant year

Based on the wexpaioment anabysis garried out by the management, no Jtrther snpairment luss s requited to be recorded in the financial statements in the cusrent year

The s (ew projecttons include specific estimates for five years and an Fxit muisiple thoreafter. The terminat growth rate has been determuced baged oo masagement’s esticate of the long-term compound annual growth rate,

corsistent with the assumptions that a market participan would make

Asar 31 March 2023, impairmeat inss recopnised in books in respert to the careyog vaue of property, plamt and eqLipments, right of uss assets 2n0d other wranule assets 18 as oilnws.

AsselL Asat L April 2022 Impairment loss’ [ As at 31 ¥March

(Reversal) 2023
Fioliday [nn Expross - Pune, Hinjewac? 3279 - 3274
Holiday lon Express - Pune. Pirpn §2.03 - §2.05
Holiday Inn Express - Nashix, Ambad 45,00 - 45 D&
PHoliday Bun Fxpress - Chennai. OB 30 - 23 30
Holiday [nn Express - Flyderabad, Banjara [lills 4353 - A5 95
Total 207,13 - 29713
The key assumptions used in the estimation of the rocoversble amount are set out below
Aszsumptinns

As Asat

[Mscount rate Pre tax £ Past Tax

Average Room Revenus (ARR) srowth rae
Tetmina! Value EBITDA multiple
Qccupancy rae

The diszount rate used at the time of recording the wnpawmen charge during she year ended 31 March 2020 was | L. 40%5
Based v the inpainmenl lestmy performed, ihe management beleves, that any reasonsbly possitle change in the key assumotions would not cause the recoverable amount to be lower than carrying amouer of the CGL

31 Murch 2024

31 March 2023

13.20%0 ¢ 13.00%
34 10 15%
16 67 times
3% tp BS¥

123590 1215%
4% 10 14%
1= rimes
G9% - §2%
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Notes Lo the financial statements for the year ended 31 ¥inrch 2024
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32 Going concern
The Company hzs incurred a net loss of [ME 25 87 during the vear ended 31 March 2024 aad as of thar dare, the Compary’s carrem liabilities exceeded izs currstt assets by INR S32.53 The curreny Kabilities include
cantrastual cash oulflows of [NR 71354 (excluding e contractuat imersst payments] cue wehin |2 menths of the balance sheet date
Dased an future bus:ness projevnans. the Compeny expects growth in its operations and impraved apereing performence in coming periods resulting in enhanced cash infloves from ity aper ting actoatizs. The Company
belicves such anticipned imernally gencrated funcs rom operations = future along with its liquedity position as a; 31 March 2024, its available revol undrawn credit facaimy as a0 31 March 2029 and cerair other current
assets {Anancial and non-finaagial) as at 31 March 2024 will enable it 20 meet its Ruture known oblearions :lue in next vear, itz the ordinary cowsse of business. However. ifa liquidity aeed wers o arise, the Company has acsess
0 requisite firancial and nperanona’ support from SAMHI Floreis Limted (holding company), whict shawd enable it to mes: its g apital, operziing, and other liquidity requiremems Moreover, the Company will

consinue o consider vanous borrowing optiors Lo misimize liquicity and supplernent cash requirements as neceysary

[n wview of the above, the Manuuement and Board of Dircctors of the Cerpany have prepared these fnaryial statements on a going cancern kasis

A5 28T OUr 18pait ol even date aizached
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